
  
 

 

 
 

ENDEAVOUR MINING CORPORATION  
 
 
Three Month Period Ended March 31, 2011   
  
(Expressed in Thousands of United States Dollars) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 



ENDEAVOUR MINING CORPORATION 
(Formerly Endeavour Financial Corporation) 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Results of Operations and Financial Condition 
For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2011   

1 | P a g e  
 

 
 This Management’s Discussion and Analysis should be read in conjunction with Endeavour Mining 
Corporation’s (“Endeavour” or the “Corporation”) unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial 
statements for the three month period ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, and related notes thereto which have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS” or “GAAP”). 
Previously, the Corporation prepared its financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”). The Corporation’s comparative figures from July 1, 
2009 (the “transition date”) have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. The periods preceding the 
transition date have not been restated. This Management’s Discussion and Analysis contains “forward-
looking statements” that are subject to risk factors set out in a cautionary note contained herein.  The reader 
is cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. All figures are in United States 
Dollars, unless otherwise indicated. Tabular amounts are in thousands of United States Dollars, except per 
share amounts.  This Management’s Discussion and Analysis is prepared as of June 10, 2011. Additional 
information relating to the Corporation, including the Corporation’s Annual Information Form, is available 
on SEDAR at www.sedar.com 
 
On September 14, 2010 the Corporation changed its name to Endeavour Mining Corporation from Endeavour 
Financial Corporation. 
 
Financial and Operational Highlights for the three month period ended March 31, 2011 
 

 Cash and cash equivalents totaled $168.5 million as at March 31, 2011. 
 

 Gold production of 20,056 ounces, an increase of 13.3% from 17,703 ounces in the same period in 
2010. 
 

 Gold sales of 19,394 ounces, an increase of 17.5% from 16,496 ounces in the same period in 2010. 
 

 Total cash cost1 (excluding royalties, refining, freight and non-cash adjustments) of $664 per gold 
ounce sold, an increase of 3.3% from $643 per gold ounce poured in the same period in 2010. 
 

 Operating cash flow from mine operations of $6.6 million, as compared to $6.7 million in the same 
period in 2010. 
 

 Initial Public Offering of Namibia Rare Earths Inc., on April 14, 2011 reducing Endeavour’s 
ownership to 38.5% and valuing the ownership interest at C$24.3 million at that date. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1 Total cash cost is a non-GAAP financial performance measure with no standard meaning under IFRS. Refer to Non-GAAP     
   Measures on page 11.  
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Background and Growth Strategy 
 
Endeavour is a junior gold producer committed to becoming an intermediate-sized producer. Endeavour owns 
the Youga Gold Mine in Burkina Faso (“Youga”), and an attractive pipeline of exploration and development 
projects in West Africa. The Corporation owns the Agbaou feasibility stage project (“Agbaou”), one of the 
largest undeveloped gold deposits in Côte d'Ivoire, and has a 40% interest in the feasibility stage Finkolo 
Gold Joint Venture in Mali. The Corporation also has a 38.5% interest in Namibia Rare Earths Inc., which 
has the Lofdal Rare Earth Project. 
 
Exploration is currently being conducted in Burkina Faso and Mali and is expected to recommence in June 
2011 in Côte d'Ivoire. 
 
Endeavour launched its acquisition strategy in September 2009, and the first year of this strategy has been 
successful and created value. Endeavour has fully transitioned into a junior gold producer, and is now 
entering the next phase of growth from:  

 Expansion of Youga's mine life  
 Development of the Agbaou and Finkolo projects  
 Mineral exploration 
 Strategic acquisition program  

Endeavour's strategic acquisition program is targeting complementary producing, or near-term producing, 
gold assets and/or companies. Key criteria include compelling geological potential and a meaningful 
contribution to the Corporation's strategic aim of being recognized as an intermediate gold producer with an 
attractive growth profile.  
 
Endeavour is well positioned, based on a:  

 Strong financial position - over $196 million of cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities 
 Access to a $100 million acquisition revolving credit facility (“Facility”)  
 Highly skilled and motivated management team with a demonstrated company-building track record  
 Strong "inhouse" transaction team  
 Management structure that allows for quick decisions  

 
Corporate Responsibility 
 
Endeavour is committed to disciplined growth and the concept of growing responsibly. Endeavour has Safety 
and Health and Environmental Policies in place to support this commitment. 
 
Endeavour’s corporate responsibility objectives are to prevent pollution, minimize the impact operations may 
cause to the environment and practice progressive rehabilitation of areas impacted by its activities. The 
Corporation has a history of operating in a socially responsible and sustainable manner, and of following 
international guidelines in Burkina Faso, where it currently operates the Youga Gold Mine.   
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Corporate Developments 
 
Namibia Rare Earths Inc. 
 

As part of the purchase of Etruscan Resources Inc. (“Etruscan”) during the year ended June 30, 2010, the 
Corporation acquired rare earth properties in Namibia.  On April 14, 2011, Namibia Rare Earths Inc. 
(“NREI”) completed its initial public offering which raised gross proceeds of C$25.0 million reducing 
Endeavour’s ownership from 71.6% to 38.5%. NREI’s core asset is the Lofdal Rare Earth Project which is an 
early stage, district scale exploration project with a demonstrated potential for the discovery of a heavy rare 
earth-enriched carbonanite deposit.   
 
Pending sale of Diamond entities 
 

As part of the purchase of Etruscan Resources Inc., during the year ended June 30, 2010, the Corporation 
acquired an interest in diamond properties in South Africa. On September 9, 2010, the Corporation’s 47.3% 
owned diamond subsidiaries, entered into an agreement of purchase and sale with a subsidiary of Rockwell 
Diamonds Inc. (TSX:RDI) (“Rockwell”), whereby Rockwell has agreed to acquire all of Endeavour’s interest 
in its diamond operations together with the interest of other third parties for an amount not exceeding 
approximately $4.9 million (ZAR33.5 million), payable in shares of Rockwell valued at C$0.068 per share. 
Endeavour will therefore receive 47.3% of the total consideration. In addition, as part of the consideration, 
Rockwell has agreed to assume all the debt and contingent liabilities of the Corporation related to the 
diamond assets, which at March 31, 2011, were $14.3 million (representing 100.0%). Closing is scheduled to 
occur in the second half of 2011. 
 
 
Financial and Treasury Services 
 

Endeavour’s financial and treasury services team is assisting with the implementation of the acquisition 
strategy of the Corporation. In addition, they also provide debt, equity, mergers and acquisitions and strategic 
business development advice to external clients. During the three month period ended March 31, 2011, 
Endeavour was an advisor and earned success fees on several transactions, most notably the Dannemora 
Mineral AB Iron Ore Project bond financing. The overhead costs attributable to the financial and treasury 
services team, including all performance related bonuses paid have been netted against the fees earned. 
 
 
Exclusive Agreement with Fiore Financial Corporation 
 

The Corporation has an exclusive agreement in place with Fiore Financial Corporation (“Fiore”).  Fiore is a 
boutique investment banking firm focused on creating, financing and launching investment opportunities in 
the resource sector.  Fiore is led by Frank Giustra, its President and Chief Executive Officer.  Fiore brings 
invaluable global investment experience and relationships to Endeavour.  Fiore is assisting Endeavour with 
the implementation of its acquisition strategy.  In addition, Endeavour’s agreement with Fiore provides 
Endeavour with an exclusive right to provide advisory services to companies launched by Fiore and also 
engages Fiore to provide advisory services to Endeavour on mandates sourced through the Fiore relationship.  
In addition, Fiore offers Endeavour the ability to invest in transactions launched by Fiore. The exclusive 
advisory services agreement with Fiore was extended during 2010 for an additional minimum term of three 
years and now expires in April 2013.  
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Operations Review  
 
Youga Gold Mine, Burkina Faso 
 
The Youga Gold Mine is located approximately 180 kilometres southeast of Ouagadougou, the capital city of 
Burkina Faso and is accessible by paved and laterite roads. Endeavour holds a 90% interest in Burkina 
Mining Company (“BMC”) which has been granted the rights to exploit the Youga Gold Deposit. The 
remaining 10% of BMC is held by the Government of Burkina Faso. 
  
The Youga Gold Mine commenced commercial production in mid 2008. Mining is carried out from several 
open pits with the ore being processed through a conventional gravity-CIL (carbon-in-leach) plant with a 
design capacity of one million tonnes per annum. 
  
Gold sold for the three month period ended March 31, 2011 aggregated 19,394 ounces at an estimated total 
cash cost1 (excluding royalties, refining, freight and non-cash adjustments) of $664 per ounce.  
 
Other highlights include: 
 

 Successfully raised the tailings storage facility wall prior to the start of the wet season, providing 
storage capacity for the next 12 months. This program will be repeated during the next dry season as 
part of ongoing operations; 

 Installed a new double deck secondary screen in the crushing circuit to provide increased screening 
area and a reduction in blinding, and a reduction in the recirculating load; 

 Successfully reduced the recirculating load in the grinding mill by redirecting the gravity 
concentrator discharge to the mill discharge; 

 Started the implementation of an enhanced Planned Maintenance program; 
 Successfully concluded negotiations with the Labour Union for a three year agreement; and  
 After the end of the first quarter we strengthened the process plant management with the recruitment 

of a Process Manager and a Plant Metallurgist. 
 
Youga is a hard rock, drill and blast mining operation. Drilling and blasting, and load haul is carried out 
under contract with PW Mining International Limited. Grid power is delivered to site from Ghana via a 21 
kilometre transmission line. A complete backup diesel generated power supply capable of delivering 8 
megawatts is available at site. A year round supply of water is obtained from the Nakambe River via an 11 
kilometre long pipeline to a raw water storage pond. The tailings area is designed to maximize water recovery 
in an effort to minimize the primary water demand. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1 Total cash cost is a non-GAAP financial performance measure with no standard meaning under IFRS. Refer to Non-GAAP Measures on page 11.  
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Operations Review (continued)  
 
Youga Gold Mine, Burkina Faso (continued) 
 
The Youga Gold Mine employs approximately 400 full time workers including both expatriate and local 
employees. There is extensive training available for the local work force for the management and skilled 
positions. In the longer term, it is anticipated that Burkinabe nationals will fill the majority of the operating 
and management positions within BMC. 
 
Building on the success of the 2010 Youga exploration campaign, Endeavour has committed a further $10 
million in 2011 to accelerate its exploration and resource delineation campaign with the objective of 
increasing mineral resources and reserves that will extend the Youga mine life. The 2011 program includes in 
excess of 50,000 meters of combined RC and diamond drilling.  Highlights include: 
 

 Identification of additional resources in the East wall of the Main pit and the North wall of the East 
pit. Engineering studies for pushbacks in these areas are being completed and will be ready during 
the third quarter. 

 Drilling continued on A2NE, Zergore, Nanga and Tail areas; resources were reported on Zergore and 
A2NE, adding inferred resources of 2.3 million tonnes at 1.29 g/t gold for 95,000 ounces at Zergore, 
and indicated resources of 709,000 tonnes at 1.32 g/t gold for 30,000 ounces of gold, plus 205,000 
tonnes at 1.25 g/t gold for 8,000 ounces of gold at A2NE.  In the second quarter, drilling continues at 
four deposits with the twin objectives of improving the resources classification in preparation for 
conversion to reserves and extending the known mineralization; 

 Initiation of an extensive structural analysis of the Youga property using external expertise with the 
objective of improving our understanding of the geology and developing additional targets on the 
property. 

 Of the seventeen previously identified targets in the Youga-Bitou Belt, drilling was well underway 
on four targets during the quarter. Five additional targets have been identified during prospecting, 
mapping and geochemical surveys and exploration programs will be developed to test these targets in 
2011. 

 In the second quarter of 2011, drilling has recommenced at Ouare/Bitou with the expectation of 
increasing the size and upgrading the resource classification; 

 In the second quarter of 2011, the program includes core drilling for metallurgical test work samples 
to confirm the amenability of the ore to Agitation Leaching and test the amenability to Heap 
Leaching as an alternative process route option; and 

 Engineering studies on Zergore are expected to be completed during the third quarter, with A2NE, 
Nanga and Tail due in the fourth quarter. 

 
Follow-up and infill drilling is currently underway on several of these drill targets and additional mineral 
resources will be reported during the second and third quarters of 2011. Overall we are very pleased with the 
progress of the exploration program in the Youga Belt and look forward to increasing the mine life as a 
result. 
 
Endeavour management continues to believe that the current political situation in Burkina Faso will not have 
a significant impact on the long-term recoverability of its investment in the Youga Mine; however, in the 
event the current political unrest should continue or worsen, it may have a negative effect on the 
recoverability of this investment. 
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Operations Review (continued) 
 
Youga Gold Mine, Burkina Faso (continued) 
 
The following table summarizes the operating results of the Youga Gold Mine for the three month period 
ended March 31, 2011: 
 

Operating Data
 
(January 1 - March 31, 2011)  

Tonnes of ore mined (000's) 221                           
Average gold grade (grams/tonne) 3.54                          
Gold (ounces):  
    Produced 20,056                      
    Sold 19,394                      
Realized price  

    Gold ($/ounce)1 1,085                        

Total cash cost per gold ounce sold2 

   (excluding royalties, refining, freight and non-cash adjustments) 664                           
 

Financial Data  (US dollars in thousands)

Revenues 26,116                      
Earnings from mine operations 8,478                         

 

1 The realized price is the price after delivery into the gold hedge. 
 2 Total cash cost is a non-GAAP financial performance measure with no standard meaning under IFRS. Refer to Non-GAAP Measures  
   on page 11. 

 
Agbaou Gold Project, Cote d’Ivoire 
 
The Agbaou Gold Project in Côte d'Ivoire is Endeavour's most advanced project after Youga. The property 
covers 469 km2, giving Endeavour control of the 40 kilometre strike length of the Agbaou Gold Belt. Agbaou 
is a feasibility stage project and one of the largest undeveloped gold resources in Côte d'Ivoire. 
 
Agbaou is situated approximately 200 kilometres northwest of the port city of Abidjan in Côte d'Ivoire. It is 
readily accessible by paved highway and is within 10 kilometres of the national power grid. The Agbaou 
exploration permit was granted in November 2003. Endeavour will have an 85% interest in the mining 
company to be established to develop Agbaou with the remaining 15% being held by the State of Côte 
d'Ivoire. 
 
A feasibility study of Agbaou was completed in November 2008 by MDM International Engineering Ltd., 
and Coffey Mining Pty Ltd., and subsequently updated in October 2009 using a US$1,000 per ounce gold 
price. The Updated Feasibility Study concludes that Agbaou will produce an average of 73,000 ounces per 
annum over a 9.1 year mine life from a reserve base of 10.9 million tonnes with an average grade of 2.1 
grams per tonne (731,000 ounces). The reserve estimation was completed by Coffey Mining in accordance 
with National Instrument 43-101. The study proposes open pit mining of three pits using an owner operated 
mining fleet with the ore being processed through a conventional gravity-CIL plant with a design capacity of 
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Operations Review (continued) 
 
Agbaou Gold Project, Cote d’Ivoire (continued) 
 
1.2 million tonnes per annum. The average gold recovery is 91% and the strip ratio is 7:1. Capital costs are 
estimated at $106 million and the Corporation is reviewing options to further reduce these costs. The 
Corporation has applied for a mining permit from the Ivorian administration which is pending.   
 
Authorizations to perform preliminary work were received in September 2010. Endeavour has initiated a 
20,000 metre drilling program and engineering and technical studies are underway to refine the updated 
feasibility study. 
 
Côte d'Ivoire is currently experiencing a period of political unrest.  Endeavour management continues to 
believe that the political situation in Côte d'Ivoire will not have a significant impact on the long-term 
recoverability of its investments in the Agbaou property; however, in the event the current political unrest 
should continue or worsen, it may have a negative effect on the recoverability of this investment. 
 
The drilling program at Agbaou was placed on hold at the end of March 2011 when it was only five weeks 
from scheduled completion, due to the unrest in Cote d’Ivoire.  As at June 10, 2011 the political situation has 
been resolved, we anticipate drilling recommencing during June 2011.  We now anticipate the engineering 
studies supporting project development to be completed late in the fourth quarter of 2011 or early in the first 
quarter of 2012, with a goal of being in production during 2013.    
 
 
Finkolo Project, Mali South 
 
Endeavour's most advanced project in Mali is on the Finkolo exploration permit located approximately 300 
kilometres southeast of Bamako, the capital city of Mali. The Finkolo permit is contiguous with the Syama 
holdings of Resolute Mining Ltd. which hosts the 6.0 million ounce Syama Gold Mine. Resolute has earned a 
60% interest in the Finkolo project and is managing the exploration and development programs on the joint 
venture holdings. Under the terms of the Finkolo Joint Venture, Resolute funded all costs of the joint venture 
up to the preparation of a feasibility study and Endeavour will reimburse Resolute its 40% share of such costs 
from 50% of its share of future project cashflow. Going forward, development costs are being funded 60/40 
by Resolute and Endeavour. 
 
In July 2010, Endeavour received a positive feasibility study for the Tabakoroni Gold Deposit located on the 
Finkolo Exploration Permit. The feasibility study is based on proven and probable reserves of 2.4 million 
tonnes with an average grade of 3.0 g/t containing 236,000 ounces. The study proposes open pit mining of 
three pits using a contract mining fleet with the ore to be trucked and processed through Resolute's Syama 
facilities, approximately 30 km away.  
 
The completion of the feasibility study and the subsequent submission to the Malian Department of Geology  
and Mines is an essential step towards securing a mining permit in order for the Finkolo Joint Venture to 
proceed with mine development at the Finkolo Gold Project.   
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Quarterly Financial Review 
 
The following tables summarize the Corporation’s financial information for the last eight quarters. The 
purchase of Etruscan Resources Inc., on October 23, 2009 resulted in the transformation of Endeavour into a 
gold operating company. 

(US dollars in thousands except per share amounts) Mar-11 Dec-10 Sep-10 Jun-10

Gold Revenues 26,116$         31,269$    28,380$         20,765$         

Gold produced (ounces) 20,056           21,234      23,173           20,292           

Gold sold (ounces) 19,394           23,362      24,004           17,566           

Cash flows from mine operations 6,555$           11,514$    10,646$         4,626$           

Net earnings attributable to shareholders
   of Endeavour Mining Corporation (77)$               3,531$      70,704$         8,914$           

Basic earnings (loss) per share -$               0.03$         0.70$             0.09$             
Diluted earnings (loss) per share -$               0.03$         0.69$             0.09$             

Cash and cash equivalents 168,462$       167,300$  187,820$       15,063$         

Total assets 453,475$       461,229$  491,421$       450,535$         

IFRS

 
 

 Canadian 
GAAP 

(US dollars in thousands except per share amounts) Mar-10 Dec-091
Sep-09 Jun-09

Gold Revenues 17,654$         14,718$    -$               -$               

Gold produced (ounces) 17,703           15,493      -                 -                 

Gold sold (ounces) 16,496           14,574      -                 -                 

Cash flows from mine operations 6,739             7,819         -                 -                 

Net earnings attributable to shareholders
   of Endeavour Mining Corporation (36,453)          8,703         33,136           (207,451)        
Basic earnings (loss) per share (0.38)$            0.09$         0.34$             (2.16)$            
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (0.38)$            0.09$         0.34$             (2.16)$            

Cash and cash equivalents 27,197$         93,497$    132,741$       121,814$       

Total assets 478,816         460,439    294,283         251,271         

 IFRS 

 
 
1 Includes the cash flows from mine operations for the period October 23 to December 31, 2009. 
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Review of Quarterly Financial Results   
 
Earnings from mine operations for the three months ended March 31, 2011   
 
Revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2011 was $26.1 million (March 31, 2010 - $17.7 million) 
from the sale of 19,394 ounces of gold (March 31, 2010 16,496 ounces) at a recorded spot gold price1 of 
$1,396 per ounce (March 31, 2010 – $1,103).  A total of 20,056 ounces of gold were produced during this 
period (March 31, 2010 – 17,703 ounces). Operating expenses for the period were $13.8 million (March 31, 
2010 - $11.0 million) and depreciation and depletion totaled $3.8 million (March 31, 2010 $3.3 million) 
resulting in earnings from operations of $8.5 million (March 31, $3.4 million).  Operating cash flow 
generated from mine operations totaled $6.6 million for the three month period ended March 31, 2011 
(March 31, 2010 – $6.7 million).   
 
Corporate administration costs of $3.6 million (March 31, 2010 – $2.9 million), exploration costs of $0.8 
million (March 31, 2010- $1.7 million were incurred for the quarter resulting in earnings from operations of 
$4.1 million (March 31, 2010 - $1.2 million loss). 
 
Other income and expenses 
 
Losses on financial instruments of $4.0 million (March 31, 2010 - $15.4 million) include losses on 
marketable securities, loss on derivative financial instruments, interest income, interest expense and financing 
costs and gain on foreign currency. 
 
Loss on marketable securities of $2.4 million (March 31, 2010 - $4.2 million) is the net of realized gains and 
losses and the change in mark to market values on marketable securities for the three month period during 
which the markets were volatile.    
  
Loss on derivative financial liabilities of $1.0 million (March 31, 2010 - $10.0 million) relates to the fair 
value change of share purchase warrants and the gold hedge program.  The total of the realized and change in 
unrealized loss on the gold hedge totaled $0.7 million (March 31, 2010 - $2.0 million) and the change in the 
unrealized loss for the share purchase warrants totaled $0.3 million (March 31, 2010 - $8.0 million). The 
adjustment for the share purchase warrants is a requirement under IFRS to account for share purchase 
warrants that are denominated in other than the Corporation’s functional currency, which is the US dollar. 
The share purchase warrants are valued quarterly and as the traded and non-traded value of the Endeavour 
share purchase warrants increases or decreases, a respective loss or gain is reflected in the financial 
statements.  The non-traded share purchase warrants are fair valued using the Black-Scholes methodology. 
 
Financial and treasury services expense of $0.6 million (March 31, 2010 - $25.1 million expense) is net of the 
overhead costs attributable to the financial and treasury services team, including all performance related 
bonuses, stock compensation and amortization of intangible assets. Performance related bonuses are 
attributable to the advisory income and gains on marketable securities.   
 
Share of profit of associate of $nil (March 31, 2010 - $4.2 million). During the first quarter 2010, the share of 
profit pertains to the Corporation’s investment in Crew Gold Corporation (“Crew”).  The Corporation 
disposed of its investment in Crew in September 2010. 
 
 
 
 
 
1 The recorded spot gold price is the realized price of gold before delivery into the gold hedge. 
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Statement of Financial Position Review 
 
Assets 
 
At March 31, 2011 Endeavour had cash and cash equivalents of $168.5 million (December 31, 2010 – $167.3 
million), marketable securities of $27.8 million (December 31, 2010 - $37.1 million) and a working capital 
position of $187.6 million (December 31, 2010 - $191.2 million).  
 
Derivative financial liabilities 
 
At March 31, 2011, derivative financial liabilities of $66.7 million (December 31, 2010 $71.8 million) were 
comprised of the fair value of the outstanding gold price protection program and the share purchase warrants.  
 
The Corporation implemented a gold price protection program for the Youga Gold Mine project which was a 
requirement under the $35 million project debt facility (“Project Facility”) for the purposes of developing the 
Youga Gold Mine.  The gold price protection program is comprised of a combination of bought put options 
and sold call options whereby 100% of forecast gold production for the first five years of the project (initially 
456,102 ounces) is price-protected at a minimum price of $629 per ounce. The put options were funded by 
writing call options covering 45% of the feasibility study life-of-mine production (initially 246,306 ounces) 
and have a strike price of $700 per ounce.  The program required no cash or other margin.  At March 31, 
2011, the remaining ounces covered by the $700 per ounce call options total 47,552 with the last commitment 
deliverable in August 2012. 
 
Following Endeavour’s acquisition of Etruscan on October 23, 2009, Etruscan used $23.0 million of cash to 
reduce the derivative liability. At March 31, 2011 the derivative liability pertaining to the gold price 
protection program was $35.3 million (December 31, 2010 - $40.6 million). 
 
The share purchase warrants are valued quarterly and as the traded and non-traded value of the Endeavour 
share purchase warrants increases or decreases, a respective loss or gain is reflected in the financial 
statements.  The non-traded share purchase warrants are fair valued using the Black-Scholes methodology. At 
March 31, 2011 the derivative liability pertaining to the share purchase warrants was $31.4 million 
(December 31, 2010 - $31.2 million) 
 
Long-term debt 
 
At March 31, 2011 Endeavour had no debt outstanding. 
 
In November or 2006, Burkina Mining Company, which operates the Youga Gold Mine executed a Project 
Facility agreement for $35.0 million with RMB Australia Holdings Limited and Macquarie Bank Limited for 
the purpose of developing the Youga Gold Mine.  The Project Facility was repaid in full during the six month 
period ended December 31, 2010. 
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Non-GAAP Measures – Total Cash Costs per Gold Ounce Calculation  
 
The Corporation reports total cash cost on a per ounce of gold sold basis.  In the gold mining industry, this is 
a common performance measure but does not have any standardized meaning. The Corporation follows the 
recommendation of the Gold Institute Production Cost Standard.  The Corporation believes that, in addition 
to conventional measures prepared in accordance with GAAP, certain investors use this information to 
evaluate the Corporation’s performance and ability to generate cash flow. Accordingly, it is intended to 
provide additional information and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of 
performance prepared in accordance with GAAP. The following table provides a reconciliation of total cash 
cost per ounce of gold sold for the three month period ended March 31, 2011. 
 

 
(US dollars in thousands except ounces)

Operating expenses from continuing mining operations 13,836$                   
Less: royalties (966)                          
Third party smelting, refining and transportation 113                           
Non-cash adjustments 726                           
Total cash cost 13,709                      
Total cash cost (excluding refining, freight and non-cash adjustments) 12,870                      
Divided by ounces of gold sold 19,394                      
Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold
    (excluding refining, freight and non-cash adjustments) 664$                         

 

 
  
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
At March 31, 2011 the Corporation had cash and cash equivalents of $168.5 million (December 31, 2010 – 
$167.3 million), marketable securities of $27.8 million (December 31, 2010 - $37.1 million) and a working 
capital position of $187.6 million (March 31, 2010 - $191.2 million).  The increase in cash and cash 
equivalents and the decrease in marketable securities are attributable to the disposition of marketable 
securities, mine operating cash flow of $6.6 million and capital expenditures on mining interests of $3.5 
million during the quarter. In the opinion of management, the working capital at March 31, 2011, together 
with cash flows from operations, are sufficient to support the Corporation’s normal operating requirements 
on an ongoing basis.   
 

With cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities in excess of $196 million, coupled with the ability 
to draw down on the $100 million Facility, Endeavour is focused on continuing its growth strategy and 
targeting complementary producing, or near-term producing gold assets and/or companies. 
 
 
Outlook 
 
Endeavour’s future cash flows and financial position are strongly linked to the price of gold.  The 
Corporation’s strong cash position and future cash flows will fund internal growth through development of 
projects, such as Agbaou, and exploration at Endeavour sites.  In order to supplement internal growth, 
Endeavour considers expansion opportunities through mergers and acquisitions. 
 
We have had an encouraging start to the second quarter and we reiterate our 84,000 ounce and approximately 
$600 cash cost (excluding royalties) guidance for 2011. 
 
Capital expenditures for 2011 at Youga are expected to be $4.1 million, in line with earlier guidance 
provided.  The majority of capital expenditures will be used for capital improvements.  
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Outlook (continued) 
 
Management believes the Corporation will not need external financing to complete the Agbaou development 
project and will continue to seek opportunities to effectively utilize its cash balance to support external 
growth through mergers and acquisitions.  In addition, the Corporation intends to remain flexible in the 
current uncertain environment to be able to respond to other opportunities as they arise, including gold hedge 
monetization and other transactions.  These statements are based on the current financial position of the 
Corporation and are subject to change if any acquisitions or external growth opportunities are realized.   
 
 
Contractual Obligations and Commitments   
 
Derivative instrument liability 
 
The following table details the options contracts pertaining to the derivative instrument liability 
 

Period

Bought Put 
Options 
(ounces)

Price per 
ounce

Sold Call 
Options 
(ounces)

Price Per 
Ounce Fair Value

2011 (April - December) 66,826       629$      26,668      700$      25,700       
2012 (January - August) 52,338       629       20,884      700       9,600         

119,164     629$      47,552      700$      35,300$       
 
 
Contracts and Leases 
 
The Corporation has a commitment in place at Youga with a contractor to provide drilling and blasting, and 
load and hauling services.  The term expires on December 31, 2012 and requires the contractor to drill and 
blast a minimum of 3.2 million bank cubic meters (“BCM”) per annum at a base cost of $2.252 per BCM, 
adjusted on an annual basis over the contract term and load and haul approximately 3.2 BCM of ore and 
waster per annum. The annual commitment is approximately $19.2 million. The Corporation provided a 
guarantee to BNP Paribas guaranteeing the obligations of the contractor, which were used to purchase drill 
equipment for the purposes of the drilling and blasting at Youga.  
 
The Corporation is subject to operating lease commitments in connection with rented office premises. 
 
The table below summarizes the commitments for the service contracts and operating lease commitments; 
 

(US dollars in thousands)

Less than 1 
year

1-3 
years

4-5 
years

After 
5 years Total

Operating leases 1,106$           347$           -$            -$            1,453$    
Drill and blasting contract 5,400             7,200          -              -              12,600    
Load and hauling contract 9,000             12,000        -            -              21,000    

15,506$         19,547$      -$            -$            35,053$  
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments (continued)   
 
Bonuses 
 
The Corporation has a deferred bonus policy in order to continue to attract, retain and motivate employees to 
enhance the profitability and growth of the Corporation’s business.   The bonus amount is calculated as 10% 
of the increase in value of the Corporation’s gold mining assets, but payable on realization. The increase in 
value of the Corporation’s gold mining assets in aggregate is calculated based on the Corporation’s market 
capitalization, minus the cost base of acquiring the assets and minus the value of the Corporation’s non-
mining assets.  In order to align the interests of the Corporation’s shareholders and employees, bonuses are 
being deferred and paid upon realization by the Corporation’s shareholders.   
 
In addition to the above noted deferred bonus policy, the Corporation also has an incentive bonus policy 
linked to the fees generated from the financial and treasury services team and the gain on marketable 
securities. Fiore is entitled to receive a minimum of 20% of the Corporation’s bonus pool. 
 
 
Contingencies   
 
Burkina Faso Mines Services S.A. 
 
On May 17, 2010 the Corporation received a notice of arbitration from Burkina Faso Mines Services S.A. 
(“BFMS) claiming certain specified amounts totaling approximately $5 million together with unspecified 
damages for fundamental breach of contract relating to the termination of a drill blast contract at the Youga 
Gold Mine and injunctive relief to prevent the Corporation and Burkina Mining Company from claiming 
under a performance guarantee provided by BFMS’ parent company, EPC Groupe. On July 5, 2010, the 
Corporation delivered a response and counterclaim to BFMS and the arbitrator agreed to by the parties to 
adjudicate the matter. The arbitration is scheduled to be heard in October, 2011. The Corporation is of the 
view that BFMS’ claim is without merit. No accrual for this contingency has been made in the financial 
statements 
 
Gold Reserve Inc. 
 
On December 16, 2008, the Corporation was notified of a claim filed against it by Gold Reserve Inc. ("Gold 
Reserve") in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice.  Gold Reserve's claim against the Corporation arises out 
of an advisory agreement pursuant to which the Corporation agreed to provide financial advisory services to 
Gold Reserve.  Gold Reserve alleges that by virtue of having been retained as Gold Reserve's financial 
advisor, the Corporation obtained access to all of Gold Reserve's proprietary and confidential information.  
Gold Reserve alleges that the Corporation wrongfully shared this information with a third party, which is a 
co-defendant in the action, and further alleges that the Corporation has committed breaches of various duties 
owed to Gold Reserve under the advisory agreement and at common law.  Gold Reserve claims that it has 
suffered and will continue to suffer damages and irreparable harm for which the Company is liable. In Gold 
Reserve’s original claims of December 16, 2008, Gold Reserve sought C$500 million in damages in addition 
to C$50 million in punitive damages from the Corporation and the co-defendant. In connection with this 
action, an interim motion was granted on February 10, 2009 and the co-defendant filed a statement of defence 
and counterclaim on March 31, 2009.  The Corporation filed a statement of defence and counterclaim on 
August 19, 2009.   
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Contingencies (continued) 
 
Gold Reserve Inc. (continued) 
 
After being relatively dormant since April 2009, Gold Reserve has changed counsel and, on June 15, 2010, 
amended the Statement of Claim to in part (i) reduce the damages claimed against the Company from C$500 
million to C$150 million (including damages that Gold Reserve alleges to have suffered as a result of being 
unable to complete an unnamed transaction) and C$50 million in punitive damages, and (ii) add the 
principals of Fiore as individual defendants.   The Corporation believes the claim is without merit and intends 
to vigorously defend the action.  No accrual for this contingency has been made in the financial statements.  
 
 
Outstanding Share Data   
 

As at June 10, 2011 the Corporation had 114,632,074 common shares issued and outstanding.  The 
Corporation had stock options outstanding under its share option plans, exercisable for 10,853,636 common 
shares. In addition, the Corporation had common share purchase warrants outstanding exercisable for 
34,114,050 common shares.   
 
On February 9, 2011, the Corporation issued 250,000 options with an exercise price of C$2.88 and an expiry 
date of February 9, 2016. 
 
On January 20, 2011, the Corporation issued 100,000 options with an exercise price of C$2.83 and an expiry 
date of January 20, 2016. 
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Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards 
 
The Corporation transitioned from Canadian GAAP to IFRS effective July 1, 2009 (the “transition date”) and 
has prepared its opening IFRS consolidated balance sheet as at that date. The Corporation’s consolidated 
financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2011 will be the first annual financial statements that 
the Corporation will prepare in accordance with IFRS.  The Corporation has prepared its opening IFRS 
consolidated statement of financial position by applying existing IFRS with an effective date of December 
31, 2011 or prior.   

 
Prior to the adoption of IFRS the Corporation prepared its financial statements in accordance with Canadian 
GAAP.  IFRS 1, “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards” (“IFRS 1”) which 
governs the first time adoption of IFRS requires, subject to certain exceptions and exemptions, that the same 
accounting policies are applied for all periods presented and that these policies are based on IFRS effective at 
the end of the first IFRS reporting year, December 31, 2011. Accordingly, it is possible that the opening 
IFRS consolidated statement of financial position and the June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2010 comparative 
statements of financial position and statement of comprehensive loss presented in the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ending December 31, 2011 may differ from those presented at this time.  

 
The IFRS accounting policies as presented in Note 2 of the condensed consolidated interim financial 
statements have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2011, the 
comparative information and the opening statement of financial position at the date of transition.   

 
 

Exemptions from full retrospective application 
 

In preparing these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 1, the Corporation has applied 
certain of the optional exemptions from full retrospective application of IFRS.  The optional exemptions 
applied are described below. 

 
(i) Business combinations 

 
IFRS 1 allows a first-time adopter to elect not to restate in accordance with IFRS 3 “Business 
Combinations”, all business combinations that occurred prior to the transition date or to only restate 
all business combinations that occurred after a designated date prior to the transition date. The 
Corporation has applied this exemption to all business combinations that occurred prior to July 1, 
2009.  

 
(ii) Cumulative translation differences 

 
IFRS 1 allows a first-time adopter to not comply with the requirements of IAS 21 “The Effects of 
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates” for cumulative translation differences that existed at the 
transition date.  The Corporation has elected this exemption to set the previous accumulated 
cumulative translation account, which is included in other comprehensive income, to zero at July 1, 
2009.  If, subsequent to adoption, a foreign operation is disposed of, the translation differences that 
arose before the transition date to IFRS will not affect the gain or loss on disposal.  This exemption 
has been applied to all subsidiaries. 
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Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards (continued) 
 
Exemptions from full retrospective application (continued) 

 
(iii) Share-based-payments 

 
IFRS 1 encourages, but does not require, first-time adopters to apply IFRS 2 “Share Based Payment” 
to equity instruments that were granted on or before November 7, 2002, or equity instruments that 
were granted subsequent to November 7, 2002 and vested before the later of the date of transition to 
IFRS and January 1, 2005.  The Corporation has elected not to apply IFRS 2 to equity instruments 
that fully vested prior to July 1, 2009.  
 

(iv) Borrowing costs 
 

IFRS 1 permits an entity to apply the transitional provisions set out in IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs” 
(“IAS 23”) as an alternative to full retrospective application. Under the transitional provisions, the 
Corporation may elect to only apply IAS 23 to qualifying assets for which the commencement date 
for capitalization is on or after the date of transition (or an elected earlier date).   The Corporation has 
elected to apply this exemption from its transition date of July 1, 2009, and as a result, will apply IAS 
23 from this date onward for projects with a commencement date of July 1, 2009 or later. 
 

(v) Arrangements containing a lease 
 

The Corporation has elected to apply the elective exemption available under IFRIC 4, “Determining 
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease” (“IFRIC 4”).  The Corporation made an assessment of 
leases for Canadian GAAP purposes under EIC 150 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains 
a Lease”, as at the date of applicability, December 9, 2004.  Accordingly, the Corporation has not 
reassessed the arrangement containing leases as at the transition date. 

 
IFRS 1 also outlines specific guidelines that a first-time adopter must adhere to under certain 
circumstances.  The Company has applied the following mandatory exceptions to its opening 
statement of financial position dated July 1, 2009: 

 
(vi) Estimates 

 
In accordance with IFRS 1, an entity’s estimates under IFRS at the date of transition to IFRS must be 
consistent with estimates made for the same date under previous GAAP, unless there is objective 
evidence that those estimates were in error.  The Company’s IFRS estimates as of July 1, 2009 are 
consistent with its GAAP estimates for the same date. 
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Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards (continued) 
 
Exemptions from full retrospective application (continued) 

 
(vii) Non-controlling interest 

 
Certain requirements of IAS 27 – Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements must be applied 
prospectively from July 1, 2009, the Company’s transition date. Retrospective application is not 
permitted. These requirements relate to: 

 
 The attribution of total comprehensive income to non-controlling interests even if this results 

in non-controlling interests having a deficit balance; 
 

 The accounting for changes in the parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not 
result in a loss of control as equity transactions; and 

 
 The accounting for loss of control over a subsidiary and the related requirements of IFRS 5 – 

Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. 
 

 
Reconciliation from Canadian GAAP to IFRS 

 
The Corporation’s transition from Canadian GAAP to IFRS has resulted in a number of adjustments to the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at  July 1, 2009 and its consolidated statement of 
comprehensive loss, consolidated statement of financial position and consolidated statement of cash flows for 
the quarter ended March 31, 2010, the six month period ended December 31, 2010, and the year ended June 
30, 2010, respectively. A summary of the adjustments are provided below, refer to Note 19 of the condensed 
consolidated interim financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2011 for complete reconciliations 
and the notes. 
 

a) Accounting Guideline 18 (“AuG-18”) 
 

Under Canadian GAAP, the Corporation’s accounting policy was to record its investments in 
accordance with AuG-18.  IFRS does not provide specific guidance for investment companies.  
Therefore, investments which had previously been accounted for under AuG-18 were assessed as to 
whether fair value accounting was an appropriate measure.  If fair value accounting was no longer 
appropriate the Corporation’s investment was assessed for which standard was applicable and 
accounted for the investment under the identified standard with resulting changes shown in these 
notes.  The key impact on transition to IFRS relate to the Corporation’s investment in Etruscan, the 
Corporation’s investment in Crew and the performance bonus accrual related to these two 
investments. 

 
(i) Subsidiaries – IFRS 3 Business Combinations 

 
On October 23, 2009 the Corporation acquired 55% of Etruscan’s common shares through 
open market purchases and a private placement. Under Canadian GAAP, the Corporation 
carried its investment in Etruscan at fair value with the change in unrealized gain and losses 
recorded in the income statement. 
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Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards (continued) 
 

a) Accounting Guideline 18 (“AuG-18”) 
 

(i) Subsidiaries – IFRS 3 Business Combinations 
 

On September 10, 2010, the Corporation acquired the remaining 45% of Etruscan common 
shares it did not already own. Under Canadian GAAP, the Corporation owning 100% of the 
common shares treated the September 10, 2010 Arrangement as a business combination and 
the mining operations were consolidated from this date onward.  

 
   IFRS does not provide specific guidance for investment companies which was the nature of 

the business at transition, therefore the Corporation determined its accounting policy to 
account for the acquisition of the 55% ownership of Etruscan as a business combination from 
October 23, 2009 onwards, the date that control commenced, using the acquisition method. 
For the acquisition of the remaining 45% of the Etruscan common shares, which was not 
considered a change in ownership and did not result in a change in control, it was accounted 
for as an equity transaction eliminating the non-controlling interest balances, accounting for 
the additional consideration with the difference being charged to retained earnings. 

 
   There was no impact to the opening retained earnings at July 1, 2009. 

 
   March 31, 2010 

   The impact was an increase of $133.9 million in total assets, an increase of $102.4 million in 
total liabilities, a decrease in net earnings of $7.0 million and a $19.0 million decrease to 
retained earnings. 

 
   June 30, 2010 

 The impact was a increase of $133.0 million in total assets, an increase of $108.0 million in 
total liabilities, a decrease in net earnings of $20.4 million and a $22.9 million decrease to 
retained earnings. 

 
   December 31, 2010 

   The impact was a decrease of $65.7 million in total assets, a decrease of $5.3 million in total 
liabilities, a decrease in net earnings of $10.7 million and a $57.8 million decrease to retained 
earnings. 

 
(ii) Investment in associate – IAS 28 

 
From January 2010 to March 31, 2010, the Corporation invested $134.5 million resulting in 
the Corporation holding a 43% interest in Crew Gold Corporation (“Crew”). 

 
On September 14, 2010, the Corporation sold its 43% interest of Crew for $214.5 million in 
cash resulting in a gain of $78.3 million.   

 
Under Canadian GAAP, the Corporation carried its investment in Crew at fair value with the 
change in unrealized gain and losses recorded in the income statement in accordance with 
AuG-18. 

 
IFRS does not provide specific guidance for investment companies (the nature of the 
business at transition) and therefore the Corporation determined its accounting policy to be 
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Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards (continued) 
 

a) Accounting Guideline 18 (“AuG-18”) (continued) 
 

(i) Investment in associate – IAS 28 (continued) 
 
such that investments in associates where, the Corporation exercises significant influence 
(presumed to exist where the Corporation has between 20 percent and 50 percent of the 
voting rights), would be recorded using the equity method of accounting. In accordance with 
IAS 28, the Corporation has recorded the investment in Crew at cost and recorded earnings 
based on its proportionate share of Crew’s net earnings for each reporting period. There was 
no impact to the opening retained earnings at July 1, 2009, however for the three month 
period ended March 31, 2010 $4.2 million of income was recorded for the equity earnings 
from investment in associate and an unrealized gain of $238.8 million was reversed.  For the 
twelve month period ended June 30, 2010 $9.3 million was recorded for the equity earnings 
from investment in associate and an unrealized gain of $78.3 million was reversed.  For the 
six month period ended December 31, 2010 $0.03 million of loss was recorded for the loss 
from investment in associate and a $78.3 million gain on the sale of Crew was recorded. 

 
 

(b)  Share purchase warrants 
 

In accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments, share purchase warrants with an exercise price 
denominated in a currency other that the Corporation’s functional currency, US dollars, are required 
to be classified and accounted for as derivative financial liabilities at their fair values, with changes 
in fair values being included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as a component 
of net earnings for the period.  Under Canadian GAAP, all the Corporation’s outstanding share 
purchase warrants were classified and accounted for as equity. The impact of this was a decrease of 
$12.9 million in opening retained earnings at July 1, 2009. 

 
 

(c) Contingent consideration 
 

In accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, contingent consideration is required to be 
recorded at fair value at the time of the transaction.  Under Canadian GAAP, each period that the 
earnings requirement was achieved, the value of the shares in escrow increased goodwill and share 
capital for the corresponding fair value. The impact of this was a decrease of $2.4 million in opening 
retained earnings at July 1, 2009. 
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates  
 
Revenue Recognition 
 
Revenue from the sale of gold is recognized when the Corporation has transferred to the buyer the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership.  The Corporation retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the 
degree usually associated with ownership or effective control over the goods sold; the amount of revenue can 
be measured reliably; it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity; and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the sale can be measured reliably. Revenue is net 
of royalties, not considered to be an income tax. 
 
Marketable securities 
 
The Corporation classifies its investments in marketable securities at fair value through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”). After initial recognition, the fair value adjustments are accounted for in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. The purchase and sale of investments are recognized on the trade date, 
which is the date that the Corporation commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
 
Inventories 
 
Finished goods, work-in-process, and stockpiled ore are valued at the lower of average production cost and 
net realizable value.  Production costs include the cost of raw materials, direct labour, mine-site overhead 
expenses and depreciation and depletion of mining interests.  Net realizable value is calculated as the 
estimated price at the time of sale based on prevailing and long-term metal prices less estimated future 
production costs to convert the inventories into saleable form. 
 
Ore extracted from the mine is stockpiled and subsequently processed into finished goods (gold in doré). 
Production costs are capitalized and included in work-in-process inventory based on the current mining costs 
incurred up to the point prior to the refining process, including applicable overhead, depreciation and 
depletion relating to mining interests, and removed at the average production cost per recoverable ounce of 
gold. The average production costs of finished goods represent the average costs of work-in-process 
inventories incurred prior to the refining process, plus applicable refining costs and associated royalties.   

 
Mining properties 
 
The Corporation records mining interests at cost. In accordance with IFRS, the Corporation capitalizes pre-
production expenditures net of revenues received during the period prior to reaching operating levels 
intended by management as part of the costs of mining properties. Exploration costs are expensed as incurred 
to the date of establishing that costs incurred are economically recoverable, at which time exploration costs 
are capitalized and included in the carrying amount of the related property. 
 
A significant portion of the Corporation’s mining properties are depleted using the unit-of-production 
method. Under the unit-of-production, depletion of mining properties is based on the amount of reserves 
expected to be recovered from the mines.  If estimates of reserves expected to be recovered prove to be 
inaccurate, or if the Corporation revises its mining plan for a location, due to reductions in the metal price 
forecasts or otherwise, to reduce the amount of reserves expected to be recovered, the Corporation could be 
required to write down the carrying amounts of its mining properties, or to increase the amount of future 
depletion expense, both of which reduce the Corporation’s earnings and net assets. 
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates (continued) 
 
Mining properties (continued) 
 
Plant and equipment are recorded at cost and are depreciated over their estimated useful lives. If estimates or 
useful lives including the economic lives of mines prove to be inaccurate, the Corporation could be required 
to write down the carrying amounts of its plant and equipment, or to increase the amount of future 
depreciation expense, both of which would reduce the Corporation’s earnings and net assets. 
 
Decommissioning and restoration provisions 
  
The Corporation’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various governmental laws and regulations 
relating to the protection of the environment. These environmental regulations are continually changing. The 
Corporation has made, and intends to make in the future, expenditures to comply with such laws and 
regulations or constructive obligations. The Corporation records a liability for the estimated future 
rehabilitation costs and decommissioning of its operating and inactive mines and development projects at the 
time the environmental disturbance occurs, discounted to net present value. The net present value is 
determined using the risk rate specific to the liability. The estimated net present value of rehabilitation and 
decommissioning cost is re-measured on an annual basis or when changes in circumstances occur and/or new 
material information becomes available. Increases or decreases to the provision arise due to changes in legal 
or regulatory requirements, the extent of environmental remediation required and cost estimates. The net 
present value of the estimated costs of these changes is recorded in the period which the change is identified 
and quantifiable. Rehabilitation and decommissioning cost relating to operating mines and development 
projects are recorded with a corresponding increase to the carrying amounts of related assets. Rehabilitation 
and decommissioning cost related to inactive mines are recorded directly in earnings as rehabilitation expense 
included in depreciation and depletion.   
 
 
Business combinations 
 
A business combination is defined as an acquisition of assets and liabilities that constitute a business. A 

business is an integrated set of activities and assets that is capable of being conducted and managed 
for the purpose of providing a return to the Corporation and its shareholders in the form of 
dividends, lower costs or other economic benefits. A business consists of inputs, including non-
current assets, and processes, including operational processes, that when applied to those inputs, 
have the ability to create outputs that provide a return to the Corporation and its shareholders. A 
business also includes those assets and liabilities that do not necessarily have all the inputs and 
processes required to produce outputs, but can be integrated with the inputs and processes of the 
Corporation to create outputs. When acquiring a set of activities or assets in the exploration and 
development stage, which may not have outputs, the Corporation considers other factors to 
determine whether the set of activities or assets is a business. Those factors include, but are not 
limited to, whether the set of activities or assets: 

 
(i)  has commenced planned principal activities; 
(ii)  has employees, intellectual property and other inputs and processes that could be applied to 

those inputs; 
(iii)  is pursuing a plan to produce outputs; and 
(iv)  will be able to obtain access to customers that will purchase the outputs. Not all of the above 

factors need to be present for a particular integrated set of activities or assets in the 
exploration and development stage to qualify as a business. 



ENDEAVOUR MINING CORPORATION 
(Formerly Endeavour Financial Corporation) 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Results of Operations and Financial Condition 
For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2011   

22 | P a g e  
 

 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates (continued) 

 
Intangible assets 

 
Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated lives and tested for impairment 
when events or circumstances indicate the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Customer relationships 
are amortized over 15 years.  Customer contracts and other intangible assets have amortization periods of up 
to four years. 
 
Impairments 
 
At each reporting date, the Corporation reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that the carrying value of the assets are not recoverable.  If such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of any 
impairment. Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the 
Corporation estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. An intangible asset 
with an indefinite useful life is tested for impairment annually or whenever there is an indication that the 
asset may be impaired. 

 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which estimates 
of future cash flows have not been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of an asset of CGU is estimated to be 
less than it carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
An impairment is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

 
When an impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment been recognized for the asset or CGU 
in prior years.  A reversal of an impairment is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

 
The Corporation performs goodwill impairment tests annually or when events and circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amounts may no longer be recoverable. In performing the impairment tests, the Corporation 
estimates the recoverable amount of its CGUs that include goodwill and compares recoverable amounts to the 
CGU’s carrying amount. If a CGU’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the Corporation 
reduces the carrying value of the CGU or group of CGUs by first reducing the carrying amount of the 
goodwill and then reducing the carrying amount of the remaining assets on a pro-rata basis. 

 
Impairment of goodwill cannot be reversed. 
 
Income and mining taxes 

 
The Corporation uses the liability method of accounting for income and mining taxes. Under the liability 
method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to 
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax bases and for unused tax losses and other income tax deductions. In a business combination, 
the liability method requires the tax effects of such differences to be recognized as deferred income tax assets 
and liabilities and included in the allocation of the cost of purchase. Deferred income taxes are not recognized 
for temporary differences that arise from differences between the fair values and tax bases of assets acquired 
in a transaction other than a business combination. 
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates (continued) 
 
Income and mining taxes (continued) 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to 
apply when the related assets are realized or the liabilities are settled. A valuation allowance is recorded 
against a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will not be available against 
which deductible temporary differences can be utilized. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a 
change in tax rates is recognized in earnings in the period in which the change is substantively enacted. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are considered monetary assets. Deferred tax balances denominated in other 
than US dollars are translated into US dollars using current exchange rates at the reporting date. 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority and the Corporation intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.  
 
Earnings per share  

 
  Earnings per share calculations are based on the weighted average number of common shares issued and 

outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share are calculated using the treasury stock method, 
whereby the  proceeds from the potential exercise of dilutive stock options and share purchase warrants with 
exercise prices that are below the average market price of the underlying shares are assumed to be used in 
purchasing the Corporation’s commons shares at their average market price for the period.  In addition, the 
effect of the Corporation’s dilutive share purchase warrants includes adjusting the numerator for mark-to-
market gains and losses recognized in profit or loss during the period for changes in the fair value of the 
dilutive share purchase warrants.    
 
Foreign currency translation 
 
The presentation currency of the Corporation is the US dollar. The functional currency of Endeavour Mining 
Corporation, the parent company, is the US dollar.  The individual financial statements of each subsidiary are 
presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional 
currency). In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than 
the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the spot exchange rate on the transaction 
date. Monetary items are translated at the closing rate at the end of each reporting period. 

  
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in a foreign currency are translated at the rates 
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using exchange rates at the date of the transaction. 

 
For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of entities whose 
functional currency is not the US dollar are translated using exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. 
Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. 
 



ENDEAVOUR MINING CORPORATION 
(Formerly Endeavour Financial Corporation) 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Results of Operations and Financial Condition 
For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2011   

24 | P a g e  
 

 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates (continued) 
 
Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective 

 
The following standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier 
adoption permitted. The Corporation has not early adopted these standards and is currently assessing the 
impact they will have on the condensed consolidated financial statements. 

  
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments: The standard is the first part of a multi-phase project to replace IAS 39, 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.  

 
IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements: IFRS 10 establishes principles for the presentation and 
preparation of consolidated financial statements when an entity controls one or more other entities. IFRS 10 
supersedes IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, and SIC-12, Consolidation – Special 
Purpose Entities. 

 
IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements: IFRS 11 establishes principles for financial reporting by parties to a joint 
arrangement. IFRS 11 supersedes current IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13, Jointly Controlled 
Entities-Non – Monetary Contributions by Venturers.   

 
IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: IFRS 12 applies to entities that have an interest in a 
subsidiary, a joint arrangement, an associate or an unconsolidated structured entity. 

 
IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurements: IFRS 13 defines fair value, sets out in a single IFRS framework for 
measuring value and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. The IFRS 13 applies to IFRSs that 
require or permit fair value measurements or disclosures about fair value measurements (and measurements, 
such as fair value less costs to sell, based on fair value or disclosures about those measurements), except in 
specified circumstances.   
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Risk factors 
 
Readers of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis should give careful consideration to the information 
included or incorporated by reference in this document and the Corporation’s audited consolidated financial 
statements and related notes for the six month period ended December 31, 2010.  Significant risk factors for 
the Corporation are metal prices, government regulations, foreign operations, environmental compliance, 
dependence on management, title to the Corporations mineral properties and litigation.  
 
Gold Price Volatility   
 
The profitability of Endeavour's investments may be significantly affected by changes in the market price of 
gold. The price of gold has historically fluctuated widely, and is affected by numerous factors beyond the 
control of Endeavour including without limitation, sales and purchases of gold, forward sales of gold by 
producers and speculators, expectations with respect to the rate of inflation, world supply of gold, stability of 
exchange rates, global and regional political and economic conditions or events, industrial and retail demand, 
sales by central banks and other holders, and speculator and producer responses to any of the foregoing 
factors.  Gold is sold in US dollars and although the majority of the costs of Endeavour’s gold operations are 
in US dollars, certain costs are incurred in other currencies. Some of the operating costs of Endeavour’s gold 
operations are denominated in currencies other than the US dollar. Fluctuations in these currencies against the 
US dollar could have a material effect on Endeavour’s financial results, which are denominated and reported 
in US dollars. Endeavour can reduce price risk by using hedging tools for a portion or all of its gold 
production. The main hedging tools available to protect against price risk are forward contracts and put 
options. Various strategies are available using these tools. A hedging arrangement was employed by Etruscan 
in 2007 for a portion of its production from the Youga Gold Mine.  The hedging was required under the Debt 
Facility terms. This historical hedge arrangement will be delivered in to over the period to August 2012. 
When gold prices rise above the price at which future production has been committed Endeavour will not 
benefit fully from the price increases. 
 
Production 
 
Endeavour currently has one operating mine, the Youga Gold Mine in Burkina Faso. No assurance can be 
given that the intended or expected production estimates will be achieved by the Youga Gold Mine or in 
respect of any future mining operations in which Endeavour owns or may acquire interests. Failure to meet 
such production estimates could have a material effect on Endeavour's future cash flows, financial 
performance and financial position. Production estimates are dependent on, among other things, the accuracy 
of mineral reserve estimates, the accuracy of assumptions regarding ore grades and recovery rates, ground 
conditions and physical characteristics of ores, such as hardness and the presence or absence of particular 
metallurgical characteristics and the accuracy of estimated rates and costs of mining and processing. Actual 
production may vary from its estimates for a variety of reasons, including, actual ore mined varying from 
estimates of grade, tonnage, dilution and metallurgical and other characteristics; short-term operating factors 
such as the need for sequential development of ore bodies and the processing of new or different ore grades 
from those planned; mine failures, slope and underground rock failures or equipment failures; industrial 
accidents; natural phenomena such as inclement weather conditions, floods, droughts, rock slides and 
earthquakes; encountering unusual or unexpected geological conditions; changes in power costs and potential 
power shortages; shortages of principal supplies needed for operation, including explosives, fuels, chemical 
reagents, water, equipment parts and lubricants; labour shortages or strikes; civil disobedience and protests; 
and restrictions or regulations imposed by government agencies or other changes in the regulatory 
environments. Such occurrences could result in damage to mineral properties, interruptions in production, 
injury or death to persons, damage to property, monetary losses and legal liabilities. These factors may cause 
a mineral deposit that has been mined profitably in the past to become unprofitable, forcing production to 
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Risk factors (continued) 
 
Production (continued) 
 
cease. Each of these factors also applies to sites not yet in production and to operations that are to be 
expanded. It is not unusual in new mining operations to experience unexpected problems during the start-up 
phases. Depending on the price of gold or other minerals, it may be determined to be impractical to 
commence or, if commenced, to continue commercial production at a particular site. 
 
The Corporation's Gold Strategy 
 
Endeavour evaluates opportunities to acquire, divest and/or consolidate gold producing assets and similar 
businesses. Any resultant transactions may be significant in size, may change the scale of Endeavour's 
business and may expose Endeavour to new geographic, political, operating, financial and geological risks. 
Such transactions may be accompanied by risks applicable to the exploration and development of resource 
properties and conduct of mining operations generally, to the difficulties of assimilating the operations and 
personnel of any acquired companies, and to the risk of unknown liabilities associated with acquired assets 
and businesses. 
 
Endeavour's success in its acquisition, divestment and consolidation activities depends on its ability to 
identify suitable opportunities, realize them on acceptable terms and have the operations of any acquired 
companies successfully integrated with those of Endeavour. There can be no assurance that Endeavour will 
be successful in overcoming these risks or any other problems encountered in connection with any future 
acquisitions, divestments or consolidations. 
 
Political Risks  
 
The majority of Endeavour's assets are located in West Africa. Endeavour believes that the governments of 
the countries that the Corporation holds assets in, supports the development of their natural resources by 
foreign companies. There is no assurance however that future political and economic conditions of these 
countries will not result in their governments adopting different policies respecting foreign ownership of 
mineral resources, taxation, rates of exchange, environmental protection, labour relations, repatriation of 
income or return of capital, restrictions on production, price controls, export controls, expropriation of 
property, foreign investment, maintenance of claims and mine safety. The possibility that a future 
government in any of these countries may adopt substantially different policies, which might include the 
expropriation of assets, cannot be ruled out. Endeavour’s Agbaou Gold Project is located in Côte d’Ivoire and 
its Youga Gold Mine is located in Burkina Faso.  Both of these countries have recently experienced a period 
of political unrest. Endeavour management continues to believe that the political situation in both Burkina 
Faso and Côte d’Ivoire will not have a significant impact on the long-term recoverability of its investments in 
the Youga Gold Mine or the Agbaou property; however, in the event that political unrest should reoccur, it 
may have a negative effect on the recoverability of these investments. 
 
Mineral Legislation  
 
The business of mineral exploration, development, mining and processing is subject to various national and 
local laws and plans relating to permitting and maintenance of title, environmental consents, taxation, 
employee relations, health and safety, royalties, land acquisitions and other matters. There is a risk that the 
necessary permits, consents, authorizations and agreements to implement planned exploration, development 
or mining may not be obtained under conditions or within the time frames that make such plans economic, 
that applicable laws, regulations or the governing authorities will change or that such changes will result in 
additional material expenditures or time delays. Etruscan applied for the Agbaou mining permit in October 
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Risk factors (continued) 
 
Mineral Legislation (continued) 
 
2009 and the application is still pending. While Endeavour believes the Agbaou mining permit will be 
granted, there is no guarantee this will be the case and no certainty on timing of any such grant. 
  
Currency and Foreign Exchange Rate Fluctuations  
 
The Corporation's results are reported in US dollars. It is anticipated that a substantial portion of the 
Corporation's investments will be made in securities denominated or quoted in foreign currencies. Therefore, 
changes in currency exchange rates as well as associated transaction costs could adversely affect profitability 
in any given period. In addition, the Corporation could also make investments in jurisdictions which may 
place restrictions on the repatriation of funds. A portion of the Corporation's business is conducted by its 
subsidiaries in Canada, the Cayman Islands, Monaco, Luxembourg, England and West Africa and the 
associated overhead costs are denominated in Canadian dollars, Euros, UK pounds sterling and Burkina Faso 
CFA franc, respectively. Any fluctuations in the value of these foreign currencies relative to the US dollar 
may result in variations in the net income of the Corporation. To date the Corporation has not entered into 
hedging or derivative arrangements to manage its foreign exchange risk.   
 
Mine Development   
 
Maintaining present levels of gold production is dependent on the successful development of new producing 
mines and/or identification of additional reserves at existing mining operations. Reduced production could 
have a material and adverse impact on future cash flows, results of operations and financial conditions. 
Feasibility studies are used to determine the economic viability of a deposit. Many factors are involved in the 
determination of the economic viability of a deposit, including the achievement of satisfactory mineral 
reserve estimates, the level of estimated metallurgical recoveries, capital and operating cost estimates and the 
estimate of future gold prices. Capital and operating cost estimates are based upon many factors, including 
anticipated tonnage and grades of ore to be mined and processed, the configuration of the ore body, ground 
and mining conditions, expected recovery rates of the gold from the ore and anticipated environmental and 
regulatory compliance costs. Each of these factors involves uncertainties and as a result, Endeavour cannot 
give any assurance that its development or exploration projects will become operating mines. If a mine is 
developed, actual operating results may differ from those anticipated in a feasibility study. 
 
Future Capital Requirements   
 
Endeavour may require additional capital if it decides to develop other properties or make additional 
acquisitions. Endeavour may also encounter significant unanticipated liabilities or expenses. Endeavour's 
ability to continue its planned exploration and development activities depends in part on its ability to generate 
free cash flow from its operating mines, each of which is subject to certain risks and uncertainties. Endeavour 
may be required to obtain additional financing in the future to fund exploration and development activities or 
acquisitions of additional projects. There can be no assurance that Endeavour will be able to obtain the 
necessary financing in a timely manner, on acceptable terms or at all. 
 
Exploration and Development   
 
The exploration and development of gold deposits involves significant risks, which even a combination of 
careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not eliminate. While the discovery of a mineable deposit 
may result in substantial rewards, few properties which are explored are ultimately developed into producing 
mines. Major expenses may be required to identify ore reserves, to develop metallurgical processes and to 
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Risk factors (continued) 
 
Exploration and Development (continued)   
 
construct mining and processing facilities at a particular site. It is impossible to ensure that the current 
exploration programs planned by Endeavour will result in a profitable commercial mining operation, and 
significant capital investment is required to achieve commercial production from successful exploration 
efforts. There is no certainty that exploration expenditures made by Endeavour will result in discoveries of 
commercial mineable quantities. 
 
Mineral Reserve and Mineral Resource Estimates   
 
Mineral reserve and mineral resource estimates are imprecise and depend partially on statistical inference 
drawn from drilling and other data, which may prove to be unreliable. Mineral reserves are reported as 
general indicators of mine life. Reserves should not be interpreted as assurances of mine life or of the 
profitability of current or future production. 
 
Depletion of Mineral Reserves   
 
Mining reserves depleted by production must be continually replaced to maintain production levels over the 
long term. There is no assurance that current or future exploration programs will result in any new 
commercial mining operations or yield new reserves to replace or expand current reserves. 
 
Dependence on Key Personnel   
 
Endeavour's growth strategy relies on certain key professionals with specific experience and expertise, and 
the loss of these persons or Endeavour's inability to attract and retain additional highly skilled employees 
required for the implementation of Endeavour's business plan and ongoing development and expansion of its 
operating assets may have a material adverse affect on Endeavour's business or future operations. 
 
Outside Contractor Risks  
 
It is common for certain aspects of mining operations, such as drilling and blasting, to be conducted by an 
outside contractor. The mining operations at the Youga Gold Mine are undertaken by a contactor and as a 
result, the Corporation is subject to a number of risks, including reduced control over the aspects of the 
operations that are the responsibility of the contractor, failure of a contractor to perform under its agreement 
with the companies, inability to replace the contractor if either party terminates the contract, interruption of 
operations in the event the contractor ceases operations due to insolvency or other unforeseen events, failure 
of the contractor to comply with applicable legal and regulatory requirements and failure of the contractor to 
properly manage its workforce resulting in labour unrest or other employment issues. 
 
Title to Mineral Holdings  
 
Mining companies require licenses and permits from various governmental authorities. Endeavour believes 
that it holds all necessary licenses and permits under applicable laws and regulation in respect of its 
properties and that it is presently complying in all material respects with the terms of such licenses and 
permits. Such licenses and permits, however, are subject to change in various circumstances. There can be no 
guarantee that Endeavour will be able to obtain or maintain all necessary licenses and permits that may be 
required to explore and develop its properties, commence construction or operation of mining facilities on 
properties under exploration or development, or to maintain continued operations that economically justify 
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Risk factors (continued) 
 
Title to Mineral Holdings (continued)  
 
the cost. The validity of ownership of property holdings can be uncertain and may be contested. Risk always 
exists that some titles, particularly titles to undeveloped properties, may be defective. 
 
Environmental Risks and other Hazards 
 
All phases of a company's mining operations are typically subject to environmental regulation in the various 
jurisdictions in which the Corporation operates. Environmental legislation in many countries is evolving and 
the trend has been toward stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non-
compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of proposed projects and increasing responsibility for 
companies and their officers, directors and employees. Compliance with environmental laws and regulations 
may require significant capital outlays on behalf of the Corporation and may cause material changes or delays 
in Endeavour's intended activities. There can be no assurance that future changes in environmental 
regulations will not adversely affect Endeavour's business, and it is possible that future changes in these laws 
or regulations could have a significant adverse impact on some portion of Endeavour's business, causing 
Endeavour to re-evaluate those activities at that time. Mining involves various other types of risks and 
hazards, including: industrial accidents; metallurgical and other processing problems; unusual or unexpected 
rock formations; structural cave-ins or slides; flooding; fires; metals losses; and periodic interruptions due to 
inclement or hazardous weather conditions. These risks could result in damage to, or destruction of, mineral 
properties, production facilities or other properties, personal injury, delays in mining, increased production 
costs, monetary losses and possible legal liability. Endeavour uses sodium cyanide in its gold production at 
the Youga Gold Mine. Should sodium cyanide leak or otherwise be discharged from the containment system, 
Endeavour may be subject to liability for clean-up work. Endeavour currently carries insurance to protect 
against certain risks in such amounts as it considers adequate. Risks not insured include environmental 
pollution, other than $250,000 of coverage to clean up uninsured property not on the Youga Mine Site. 
Therefore, Endeavour may suffer a material adverse impact on its business if it incurs losses related to any 
significant events that are not covered by its insurance policies. 
 
Reclamation 
 
With regard to the Youga Gold Mine, recent legislation has been adopted that provides that mining 
companies exploiting a mine in Burkina Faso must establish an environmental preservation and rehabilitation 
fund trust account ("EPRF") and make annual contributions equal to the total forecasted rehabilitation budget 
as stated in the project’s environmental impact assessment divided by the number of years forming the mine 
life. Endeavour has established an EPRF account for the Youga Gold Mine and made the required financial 
contributions. There is no assurance that any funds or bonding provided will be sufficient to complete 
required reclamation work or that Endeavour will not be required to fund additional costs related to 
reclamation that could have a material adverse effect on Endeavour's financial position. 
 
Remote Locations  
 
Endeavour's mining interests are located in remote locations and depend on an uninterrupted flow of 
materials, supplies and services to those locations. Any interruptions to the procurement of equipment or the 
flow of materials, supplies and services to these properties could have an adverse impact on the Endeavour's 
future cash flows, earnings, results of operations and financial condition. 
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Risk factors (continued) 
 
Competition  
 
The mining industry is intensely competitive. Significant competition exists for the acquisition of properties 
producing or capable of producing gold or other metals. Endeavour may be at a competitive disadvantage in 
acquiring additional mining properties because it must compete with other individuals and companies, many 
of which have greater financial resources, operational experience and technical capabilities than Endeavour. 
Endeavour may also encounter increasing competition from other mining companies in its efforts to hire 
experienced mining professionals. Increased competition could adversely affect Endeavour’s ability to attract 
necessary capital funding or acquire suitable producing properties or prospects for mineral exploration in the 
future. 
 
Insurance Coverage  
 
The mining industry is subject to significant risks that could result in damage to, or destruction of, mineral 
properties or producing facilities, personal injury or death, environmental damage, delays in mining and 
monetary losses and possible legal liability. Endeavour’s policies of insurance may not provide sufficient 
coverage for losses related to these or other risks. Endeavour’s insurance does not cover all risks that may 
result in loss or damage and may not be adequate to reimburse Endeavour for all losses sustained. The 
occurrence of losses or damage not covered by insurance could have a material and adverse effect on 
Endeavour’s cash flows, results of operation and financial condition. 
 
Legal Proceedings 
 
Endeavour may become party to litigation or other proceedings, with or without merit, in a number of 
jurisdictions. The cost of defending such claims may take away from management time and effort and if 
adjudged adversely to Endeavour, may have a material and adverse effect on its cash flows, results of 
operation and financial condition. 
 
Foreign Assets 
 
Substantial portions of the assets of Endeavour are located in jurisdictions outside of Canada. As a result, it 
may be difficult for investors resident in Canada or other jurisdictions to enforce judgments obtained against 
Endeavour in Canada if the damages awarded exceed the realizable value of Endeavour's Canadian assets. 
 
Foreign Organization 
   
The Corporation is incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The foreign organization, 
management and offices of the Corporation may make it more difficult for shareholders to enforce their legal 
rights than if the Corporation was organized, managed and resident in Canada or the United States. The 
common law and statutory rights of shareholders under the laws of the Cayman Islands may be less extensive 
than statutory rights available to shareholders under the laws of Canada or the United States. Although the 
Cayman Islands have enjoyed a stable political climate for many years, there can be no assurance that 
changing social and political conditions will not adversely affect the operations of the Corporation in the 
future.   
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Financial Instruments and Related Risks 
 
The Corporation’s activities expose it to a variety of risks that may include currency risk, credit risk, liquidity 
risk, interest rate risk and other price risks, including equity price risk. The Corporation examines the various 
financial instrument risks to which it is exposed and assesses any impact and likelihood of those risks.   

 
(i) Credit risk  
 

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the 
Corporation by failing to discharge its obligations. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, 
marketable securities held with investment dealers, marketable securities made in the form of a loan, 
and accounts receivables and other assets. Although it is intended that the marketable securities the 
Corporation makes in the form of loans will normally be secured, there can be no assurance that such 
security will completely protect the value of the Corporation’s investments.  As the assets securing 
the Corporation’s loans will occasionally be subordinated to senior indebtedness, the Corporation’s 
security may have second or third priority.    

 
 The Corporation closely monitors its financial assets and does not have any significant concentration 

of credit risk other than cash on deposit with global financial institutions. The Corporation invests its 
cash and cash equivalents in highly rated corporations, financial institutions and government 
issuances of which the credit risk is considered to be low. The Corporation sells its gold to large 
international financial institutions and internationally recognized refiners. The Corporation’s gold 
revenue is comprised of gold sales to primarily one customer, however the Corporation is not 
economically dependent on a limited number of customers for the sale of its gold because gold can 
be sold through numerous commodity market traders worldwide. 
 
The historical level of customer defaults is minimal and, as a result, the credit risk associated with 
accounts receivable and other assets at March 31, 2011 is considered to be negligible.  The 
Corporation does not rely entirely on ratings issued by credit rating agencies in evaluating 
counterparties’ related credit risk.  

  
All transactions executed by the Corporation in listed securities are settled and paid for upon delivery 
using approved brokers.  The risk of default is considered minimal, as delivery of securities sold is 
only made once the broker has received payment.  Payment is made on a purchase once the securities 
have been received by the broker. The trade will fail if either party fails to meet its obligation. 

 
The Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk before taking into account any collateral held or 
other credit enhancements is the carrying amount of the financial instruments at the consolidated 
balance sheet date as follows: 

March 31, 
2011

December 31, 
2010

 June 30, 
2010

July 1, 
2009

Marketable securities in 
   the form of loans 5,000                     5,000                   5,000                     12,532                 

Trade and other receivables 8,537                     7,693                   7,626                     3,508                   

13,537$                  12,693$                12,626$                  16,040$                 
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Financial Instruments and Related Risks (continued) 
 
(ii) Liquidity risk   
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 
The Corporation has a planning and budgeting process in place to help determine the funds required 
to support the Corporation’s normal operating requirements. 

  
The following table summarizes the contractual maturities of the Corporation’s financial liabilities 
and operating and capital commitments at March 31, 2011: 
 

Within1 
year

2 to 3 
years

4 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years Total

 
Trade and other payables 13,499$   -$      -$   -$    13,499$ 
Derivative liabilities 25,700      9,600     -     -      35,300    
Minimium rental and lease payments 996          1,141     -     -      2,137      
Reclamation and closure cost 
   obligations -           -         -     5,608  5,608      

40,195$    10,741$  -$   5,608$ 56,544$   
  

In the opinion of management, the working capital at March 31, 2011, together with future cash 
flows from operations, is sufficient to support the Corporation’s commitments. 
 
 

 (iii) Currency risk 
 

Currency risk relates to the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of the Corporation’s financial 
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Exchange rate fluctuations 
may affect the costs that the Corporation incurs in its operations. Gold is sold in US dollars and the 
Corporation’s costs are incurred principally in British pounds sterling, Canadian dollars, Burkina 
Faso CFA Franc, Euros, South African Rand and US dollars.  
 
The appreciation of non-US dollar currencies against the US dollar can increase the cost of gold 
production and capital expenditures in US dollar terms.  The Corporation also has cash and cash 
equivalents, marketable securities, and accounts receivable and other assets that are denominated in 
non-US dollar currencies which are subject to currency risk. 

  
 The Corporation has not hedged its exposure to foreign currency exchange risk. 
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Financial Instruments and related Risks (continued) 
 
(iii) Currency risk (continued) 

 
 The table below highlights the net assets held in foreign currencies: 

 
March 31,

2011
December 31, 

2010
June 30, 

2010
July 1,

2009

Canadian dollar 6,734$           43,672$          175,010$            168,994$       
Euro 3,856             88                  2,326                 -                
Rand (42)                (69.00)             (10,438)              -                
Other currencies 791               900                 3,495                 3,421            

11,339$         44,591$          170,393$            172,415$        
  

 
  (iv) Interest rate risk  

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of the Corporation’s financial 
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  The Corporation is exposed to 
interest rate risk on its cash and cash equivalents.  The Corporation holds convertible loans, 
debentures and short term government treasury securities that have the potential to be affected by 
changes in interest rates. There is minimal fair value sensitivity to changes in interest rates, since 
convertible loans and debentures are short term in nature and are usually held to maturity.  
 
The Corporation monitors its exposure to interest rates and is comfortable with its exposure given the 
relatively low short-term US dollar rates. At March 31, 2011 a 10% increase or decrease in the 
interest rates would result in a nominal increase or decrease in the Corporation’s earnings. A 10% 
increase or decrease in the interest earned from financial institutions on cash and cash equivalents 
would result in a nominal increase or decrease in the Corporation’s earnings, respectively. 

 
 
(iii) Price Risk   
 

Price risk is the risk that the fair value of or future cash flows of the Corporation’s financial 
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Profitability of the Corporation 
depends on metal prices, primarily gold. Metal prices are affected by numerous factors such as the 
sale or purchase of gold by various central banks and financial institutions, interest rates, exchange 
rates, inflation or deflation, fluctuations in the value of the US dollar and foreign currencies, global 
and regional supply and demand and the political and economic conditions of major producing 
countries throughout the world.    

 
The Corporation is exposed to other price risk or equity price risk in trading its marketable securities 
and unfavorable market conditions could result in dispositions of marketable securities at less than 
favorable prices. Additionally, the Corporation marks its investments to market at each reporting 
period. This process could result in significant write-downs of the Corporation’s investments over 
one or more reporting periods, particularly during periods of declining resource equity markets. 
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Controls and Procedures  
 
Disclosure controls and procedures 
 
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that all relevant information 
is gathered and reported on a timely basis to senior management, including the Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) and the Chief Financial Officer (CFO), so that appropriate decisions can be made regarding public 
disclosure. As at the end of the period covered by this management’s discussion and analysis, management 
evaluated the effectiveness of the Corporation’s disclosure controls and procedures as required by Canadian 
Securities Law. 
 
Based on that evaluation, the CEO and CFO have concluded, that as of the end of the three month period 
covered by this Management’s Discussion and Analysis, the disclosure controls and procedures were 
designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in Endeavour Mining 
Corporation’s annual and interim filings (as such terms are defined under National Instrument 52-109 
Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings) and other reports filed or submitted under 
Canadian securities law is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by 
those laws, and that material information is accumulated and communicated to management including the 
CEO and CFO as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  
  
Internal controls and procedures 
 
The Corporation’s management, with the participation of its CEO and CFO, are responsible for establishing 
and maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting.  Under the supervision of the CFO, the 
Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with GAAP.  
 
All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those 
systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement 
preparation and presentation. As at the end of the period covered by this Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis, management evaluated the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over financial 
reporting as required by Canadian securities laws. 
  
Based on that evaluation, the CEO and CFO have concluded that, as of the end of the three month period 
covered by this Management’s Discussion and Analysis, the internal controls over financial reporting were 
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. 
  
As a result of the Corporation’s acquisition of Etruscan and its transition from a merchant banking company 
to a gold company, the Corporation has adopted new controls and procedures pertaining to the gold 
producing activities. These controls and procedures were in place at Etruscan prior to the acquisition.   
 
Except for the recent acquisition of gold producing activities as noted above, there have been no material 
changes in the Corporation’s internal controls over financial reporting during the three month period ended 
March 31, 2011 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Corporation’s 
internal controls over financial reporting. 
 
Additional information relating to the Corporation is available on the Corporation’s web site at 
www.endeavourmining.com and in the Corporation’s Annual Information Form for the six month period 
ended December 31, 2010 on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.   
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Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements 
 
Certain statements in this MD&A and certain information incorporated herein by reference constitute 
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements with 
respect to the Corporation’s plans or future financial or operating performance, the estimation of mineral 
reserves and resources, the realization of mineral reserve estimates, conclusions of economic assessments of 
projects, the timing and amount of estimated future production, costs of future production, future capital 
expenditures, costs and timing of the development of new deposits, success of exploration activities, 
permitting time lines, requirements for additional capital, sources and timing of additional financing, 
realization of unused tax benefits and future outcome of legal and tax matters. Generally, these forward-
looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “plans”, “expects” 
or “does not expect”, “is expected”, “budget”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “forecasts”, “intends”, 
“anticipates” or “does not anticipate”, “will continue” or “believes”, or variations of such words and 
phrases or state that certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “might” or “will be 
taken”, “occur” or “be achieved”. The material factors or assumptions used to develop material forward-
looking statements are disclosed throughout this document. Forward-looking statements, while based on 
management’s best estimates and assumptions, are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and 
other factors that may cause the actual results, level of activity, performance or achievements of Endeavour 
to be materially different from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements, including but 
not limited to: risks related to the successful integration of acquisitions; risks related to international 
operations; risks related to joint venture operations; risks related to general economic conditions and credit 
availability, actual results of current exploration activities, unanticipated reclamation expenses; changes in 
project parameters as plans continue to be refined; fluctuations in prices of metals including gold; 
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, increases in market prices of mining consumables, possible 
variations in ore reserves, grade or recovery rates; failure of plant, equipment or processes to operate as 
anticipated; accidents, labour disputes, title disputes, claims and limitations on insurance coverage and 
other risks of the mining industry; delays in obtaining governmental approvals or financing or in the 
completion of development or construction activities, changes in national and local government regulation of 
mining operations, tax rules and regulations, and political and economic developments in countries in which 
the Corporation operates, actual resolutions of legal and tax matters, as well as those factors discussed in 
the section entitled “Description of the Business – Risk Factors” in Endeavour’s annual information form for 
the six month period ended December 31, 2010, available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Although 
Endeavour has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially 
from those contained in forward-looking statements, there may be other factors that cause results not to be as 
anticipated, estimated or intended. There can be no assurance that such statements will prove to be accurate, 
as actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. 
Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. The Corporation’s 
management reviews periodically information reflected in forward-looking statements. The Corporation has 
and continues to disclose in its Management’s Discussion and Analysis and other publicly filed documents, 
changes to material factors or assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements and to the validity of 
the statements themselves, in the period the changes occur. 
 
 
Cautionary note regarding reserves and resources  
 
Readers should refer to the annual information form of Endeavour for the six month period ended December 
31, 2010, dated March 18, 2011, and other continuous disclosure documents filed by Endeavour available at 
ww.sedar.com, for further information on mineral reserves and resources, which is subject to the 
qualifications and notes set forth therein. 
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March 31,

2011 

 December 31,
2010

(Note 19) 

June 30, 
2010

(Note 19) 

July 1, 
2009

(Note 19) 

ASSETS
Current
  Cash and cash equivalents 168,462$            167,300$          15,063$          121,814$        
  Marketable securities 27,847               37,149             32,961           71,049            
  Trade and other receivables 8,537                 7,693               7,626             3,508              
  Inventories (Note 5) 18,922               19,361             20,521           -                 
  Prepaid expenses and other 5,337                 4,264               3,168             445                 
  Assets held for sale (Note 4) 12,061               12,188             -                -                 

241,166             247,955           79,339           196,816          

Reclamation deposits -                     -                  1,424             -                 
Mining interests (Note 6) 164,106             164,654           175,534        298                 
Intangible assets (Note 7) 18,889               19,306             21,102           24,749            
Goodwill (Note 7) 29,314               29,314             29,314           29,314            
Investment in associate -                     -                  143,822        -                 
Deferred income and mining taxes -                     -                  -                94                   

453,475$             461,229$           450,535$        251,271$         

LIABILITIES
Current
  Trade and other payables 13,499$              16,536$            30,876$          3,565$            
  Current portion of long-term debt (Note 8) -                     -                  10,300           -                 
  Current portion of derivative 

financial liabilities (Note 9) 25,700               25,500             20,900           -                 
  Income and mining taxes payable 50                      708                  765                167                 
  Liabilities held for sale (Note 4) 14,313               14,005             -                -                 

53,562               56,749             62,841           3,732              

Long-term debt (Note 8) -                     -                  24,052           -                 
Derivative financial liabilities (Note 9) 41,063               46,286             47,891           12,858            
Deferred income and mining tax liabilities 11,867               12,278             8,379             -                 
Provisions (Note 10) 2,314                 2,296               4,231             -                 

108,806               117,609             147,394          16,590             

EQUITY
Share capital (Note 11 (a)) 241,226             240,015           198,526        196,171          
Equity reserve 22,854               22,879             16,040           12,319            
Retained earnings 78,114               78,361             40,653           26,191            
Equity attributable to shareholders  342,194             341,255           255,219        234,681          
    of the Corporation
Non-controlling interests (Note 12) 2,475                 2,365               47,922           -                 

Total equity 344,669               343,620             303,141          234,681           

453,475$             461,229$           450,535$        251,271$         
 
COMMITMENTS & CONTINGENCIES (Note 18)

Approved by the Board: June 10, 2011

"Neil Woodyer"   Director    "Wayne McManus"    Director  
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements
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2011
2010

(Note 19)

Revenues
Gold revenue 26,116$              17,654$               

Cost of sales
Operating expenses 13,836               11,001                 
Depreciation and depletion 3,802                 3,284                   

Earnings from mine operations 8,478                 3,369                   

 Corporate administration 3,600                 2,890                   
Exploration 735                    1,700                   

Earnings (loss) from operations 4,143                 (1,221)                  

Other (expenses) income
Losses on financial instruments (Note 13) (4,044)               (15,420)                
Financial and treasury services (Note 14) (656)                  (25,117)                
Share of profit of associate, net of taxes -                    4,201                   

(4,700)               (36,336)                

Loss before taxes (557)                  (37,557)                

 Income and mining taxes 9                         (468)                     

 Deferred income and mining taxes 411                    (127)                     

Net loss and total comprehensive loss (137)$                 (38,152)$              

 
Attributable to:
Shareholders of Endeavour Mining Corporation (77)$                   (36,453)$              
Non-controlling interests (Note 12) (60)                    (1,699)                  

Net loss and total comprehensive loss (137)                    (38,152)                 

Net earnings per share  
Basic earnings per share (0.00)$                (0.39)$                  
Diluted earnings per share (0.00)$                (0.39)$                  

Three months ended March 31 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements
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2011
2010

(Note 19)

Operating Activities
Loss before taxes (557)$                  (37,577)$        
Reclamation expenditures (82)                      (60)                 
Adjust for:

Depreciation and depletion 3,932                   3,823             
Loss on marketable securities 2,440               4,169         
Loss on disposition of mining interests 241                  -             
Accretion of reclamation and other closure obligations 70                        61                  
Amortization of intangible assets 417                      887                
Share-based payments (Note 11 (c)) 394                      1,377             
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative financial liabilities (Note 9) (5,023)                 10,097           
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss (441)                    110                
Share of profit of associate, net of taxes -                      (4,201)            
Interest income (216)                    (501)               

Interest received 216                      501                
Interest paid (109)                    (78)                 
Income tax paid (699)                    -                 
Changes in non cash-working capital (Note 15) (4,487)                 40,416           

(3,904)                 19,024           

Investing Activities
Expenditures on mining interests (3,525)                 (3,840)            
Purchases of marketable securities -                      (6,506)            
Investment in associate -                      (132,861)        
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities 6,862                   53,666           
Proceeds on disposition of mining interests 505                      -                 

3,842                   (89,541)          

Financing Activities
Proceeds on issuance of common shares 792                      4,315             

792                      4,315             

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 432                      (97)                 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,162                   (66,299)          
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 167,300               93,496           
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 168,462$             27,197$        

Three months ended March 31 

 
Supplemental cash flow information (Note 15) 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements



ENDEAVOUR MINING CORPORATION 
Condensed Consolidated Interim Statements of Changes in Equity 
(Expressed in Thousands of United States Dollars, except share amounts) 
(Unaudited) 
 

39 | P a g e  
 

 

Number of 
Shares Par Value

Additional Paid 
in Capital

Total Share 
Capital

Equity 
Reserve

Retained 
Earnings

Total 
Attributable to 
Shareholders

Non-
Controlling  

Interests Total

At January 1, 2010 97,383,652         966$     196,164$       197,130$       15,304$        68,030$        280,464$      47,726$    328,190$  

     Forfeited escrow shares (1,074)                 -                 -                 -               -                -                -            -           

     Escrow shares released 339,251              3           488                491                (491)             -                -                -            -           

     Stock options exercised 112,500              1           283                284                (69)               -                215               -            215           

     Shares in escrow (677,434)             -        -                 -                 -               -                -                -            -           

     Share based payments -                      -        -                 -                 1,237            -                1,237            -            1,237        
     Change in ownership of  
        Non-controlling interest -                      -        -                 -                 -               (189)              (189)              4,428        4,239        

     Net loss and total comprehensive loss -                      -        -                 -                 -               (36,453)         (36,453)         (1,699)       (38,152)    

At March 31, 2010 97,156,895         970$     196,935$       197,905$       15,981$        31,388$        245,274$      50,455$    295,729$  

At January 1, 2011 113,482,507       1,131$  238,884$       240,015$       22,879$        78,361$        341,255$      2,365$      343,620$  

     Stock options exercised 396,844              4 1,207             1,211             (419)             -                792               -            792           

     Share based payments -                      -        -                 -                 394               -                394               -            394           
     Change in ownership of 
         Namibia Rare Earths Inc. -                      -        -                 -                 -               (170)              (170)              170           -           

     Net loss and total comprehensive loss -                      -        -                 -                 -               (77)                (77)                (60)            (137)         

At March 31, 2011 113,879,351       1,135$  240,091$       241,226$       22,854$        78,114$        342,194$      2,475$      344,669$  

Share Capital

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
 

Endeavour Mining Corporation (“Endeavour” or the “Corporation”) is a gold producer and    
holds an extensive exploration land position and various advanced-stage development gold 
projects in West Africa.  Endeavour has a global strategy, supported by financial resources and 
management’s company building expertise, to grow into an intermediate gold producer through 
strategic acquisitions.  
 
In November 2010 Endeavour changed its year end from June 30 to December 31 and filed 
financial statements as at and for the six month period ended December 31, 2010 under Canadian 
GAAP. IFRS 1, First-Time Adoption of IFRSs (“IFRS 1”) requires at least one year of 
comparative data to be included. In addition, in accordance with National Instrument 51-102 
subsection 4.8(6), Endeavour’s annual financial statements for the year ending December 31, 
2011 must include comparative financial information for the six month period December 31, 
2010 and the year ended June 30, 2010. 
 
In accordance with National Instrument 52-107 Companion Policy subsection 2.9, Endeavour’s 
date of transition to IFRS is July 1, 2009 as Endeavour’s first set of annual financial statements 
with an unreserved statement of compliance with IFRS (year ending December 31, 2011) 
includes comparatives for both the six month period ended December 31, 2010 and the year 
ended June 30, 2010 and National Instrument 52-107 subsection 3.2(5) requires financial 
statements to be prepared in accordance with the same accounting principles for all periods 
presented in the financial statements. 
 
Endeavour is a publicly listed company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The Corporation’s 
shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange, under the symbol EDV.   
 
The Corporation’s head office is located at 1st Floor, Cayman Corporate Centre, 27 Hospital 
Road, PO Box 1793, Georgetown, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands.   
 
 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
These condensed consolidated interim financial statements, including comparatives have been 
prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 34 Interim Financial 
Reporting as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), using the 
accounting policies the Corporation expects to adopt in its consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2011. The disclosures related to the transition from Canadian 
GAAP to IFRS are included in Note 19.   
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
  
IFRS requires an entity to adopt IFRS in its first annual financial statements under IFRS by 
making an explicit and unreserved statement in those financial statements of compliance with 
IFRS.  The Corporation will make this statement when it issues its December 31, 2011 
consolidated annual financial statements.   
 
(a) Basis of measurement 

 
These condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments and certain other financial 
assets which are carried at fair value. 

 
(b) Basis of presentation 

 
These condensed consolidated interim financial statements include the accounts of the 
Corporation and all the entities controlled by the Corporation (its subsidiaries) and its 
investment in associates.   
 
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Corporation has the power, directly or indirectly, 
to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from 
their activities. Control is presumed to exist when the Corporation owns more than one 
half of the voting rights (which does not always equate to percentage ownership) unless it 
can be demonstrated that ownership does not constitute control. Control does not exist 
where other parties hold veto rights over significant operating and financial decisions. In 
assessing control, potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are 
taken into account.  The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date 
whereby control ceases.  Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring their 
accounting policies in line with those of the Corporation. 
 
Non-controlling interest in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified 
separately from the Corporation’s equity.  Non-controlling interests consists of the non-
controlling interest at the date of the original business combination plus the non-
controlling interest’s share in changes in equity since the date of acquisition.   
 
Investments in associates are those investments over which the Corporation exercises 
significant influence and which are neither subsidiaries nor interests in joint ventures. 
Significant influence is presumed to exist where the Corporation has between 20 percent 
and 50 percent of the voting rights, but can also arise where the Corporation holds less 
than 20 percent if it has the power to be actively involved and influential in policy 
decisions affecting the entity. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting except when classified as held for sale. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(b) Basis of presentation (continued) 

 
The Corporation’s share of the associates’ net income is based on their most recent 
audited or unaudited financial statements as at the Corporation’s reporting date.  This 
involves recording the investment initially at cost to the Corporation, which therefore 
includes any goodwill on acquisition representing the difference between the cost of the 
investment and the investor’s share of the  net fair value of the associate’s identifiable 
assets and liabilities, and then, in subsequent periods, adjusting the carrying amount of 
the investment to reflect the Corporation’s share of the associate’s net income less any 
impairment of goodwill and any other changes to the associate’s net assets such as 
dividends.  
 
All figures are in United States dollars (“US Dollars”) unless otherwise noted. The 
subsidiaries and the Corporation’s ownership interests therein, are as follows: 
 

Mining properties Location
Ownership 
percentage

Basis of 
Presentation

 

Endeavour International Management Services SAM Monaco  100%  Consolidation

Endeavour Gold Corporation Cayman  100%  Consolidation

Endeavour Gold Luxembourg, Sarl Luxembourg  100%  Consolidation

Endeavour Resources Inc Cayman 100%  Consolidation

Cayman Burkina Mines Ltd Cayman 100%  Consolidation

Burkina Mining Company Burkina Faso 90%  Consolidation

Etruscan Diamonds Ltd Canada 47%  Consolidation

Namibia Rare Earth Inc. Canada 74%  Consolidation

Endeavour Financial Corporation Cayman  100%  Consolidation

Endeavour Financial International Corporation Cayman  100%  Consolidation

Endeavour Financial Limited UK 100%  Consolidation

Endeavour Financial Ltd Canada 100%  Consolidation

Endeavour Administration Services Ltd Canada 100%  Consolidation

Finkolo Joint Venture Mali 40% Equity

 
Intragroup balances, transactions, revenue and expenses are eliminated in full.  

 
(c) Application of critical accounting policies and estimates 

 
The preparation of condensed consolidated interim financial statements in conformity 
with IFRS requires that the Corporation’s management to make estimates and 
assumptions about future events that affect the amounts reported in the condensed 
consolidated interim financial statements and related notes to the financial statements. 
Actual results may differ from those estimates.   
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(c) Application of critical accounting policies and estimates (continued) 

 
Significant estimates used in the preparation of these condensed consolidated interim 
financial statements include, but are not limited to, the recoverability of trade receivables 
and marketable securities, measurement of revenue and trade receivables, the quantities 
of material in circuit and the recoverable gold in this material used in determining the 
estimated net realizable value of inventories, the proven and probable ore reserves and 
resources and the related depletion and amortization, the estimated tonnes of waste 
material to be mined and the estimated recoverable tonnes of ore from each mine area, 
the assumptions used in the accounting for share-based payments, valuation of warrants, 
valuation of derivative instruments, valuation of marketable securities, the provision for 
income and mining taxes and composition of deferred income and mining tax assets and 
liabilities, the expected economic lives of and the estimated future operating results and 
net cash flows from mining interests, the anticipated costs of decommissioning cost 
obligations, and the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired in  business combinations.  
 
Significant critical judgments estimates and assumptions include the following: 
 
Reformation of functional currency 
 
The functional and presentation currency of the Corporation and each of its subsidiaries 
and associates is in the US dollar.  Accordingly, the foreign currency translations and 
balances of the Corporation’s subsidiaries and associates are translated as follows: 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the US dollar 
(“foreign currencies) are translated into US dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the 
reporting date, non-monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies and measured at 
other than fair value are translated using the rate of exchange at the transaction dates, 
non-monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are 
translated using the rates of exchange at the dates those fair values are determined and 
income statement items denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the 
average monthly exchange rates. 
 
Foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in net earnings and presented in the 
condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive loss in accordance with the nature 
of the transactions to which the foreign currency gains and losses relate.  Unrealized 
foreign exchange gains and losses on cash and cash equivalent balances held in foreign 
currencies are disclosed separately in the condensed consolidated statements of cash 
flows. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(c) Application of critical accounting policies and estimates (continued) 

 
Estimated recoverable reserves and resources 
 
Reserves are estimates of the amount of product that can be economically and legally 
extracted based on information compiled by appropriately qualified persons. In order to 
estimate reserves, estimates are required about a range of geological, technical and 
economic factors, including quantities, grades, production techniques, recovery rates, 
production costs, commodity demand, commodity prices and exchange rates.   
 
Estimating the quantity and/or grade of reserves requires the size, shape and depth of ore 
bodies to be determined by analyzing geological data such as drilling samples. This 
process may require complex and difficult geological judgements to interpret the data. 
 
Because the economic assumptions used to estimate reserves change from period to 
period and because the operating levels intended by management change during the 
course of operations, estimates of reserves may change from period to period. Changes in 
reported reserves may affect the Corporation’s financial performance and financial 
position in a number of ways, including the following: 
 

(i) Asset carrying amounts may be affected due to changes in estimated future cash 
flow. 

 
(ii) Depreciation, depletion and amortization charged in the statement of 

comprehensive loss may change where such charges are determined by the units of 
production bases, or where the useful economic lives of assets change. 
 

(iii) Decommissioning, site restoration and environmental provisions may change 
where changes in estimated reserves affect expectations about the timing or cost of 
these activities. 

 
(iv) The carrying amount of deferred tax assets may change due to changes in estimates 

of the probable recovery of future tax benefits. 

 
Environmental rehabilitation costs 
 
The provisions for rehabilitation are based on the expected costs of environmental 
rehabilitation and inputs used to determine the present value of such provisions and the 
related accretion expense using the information available at the reporting date.  To the 
extent the actual costs differ from these estimates, adjustments will be recorded and the 
profit or loss may be impacted. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(c) Application of critical accounting policies and estimates (continued) 
 
Fair value hierarchy 
 
Fair values are determined using valuation techniques.  These techniques use assumptions 
based on market conditions existing at the date of the statement of financial position. 
 
Where the fair value of financial assets and liabilities recorded in the statement of 
financial position cannot be derived from active markets, their fair value is determined 
using valuation techniques including the discounted cash flow model.  The inputs to these 
models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, 
a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values.  The judgments include 
considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in 
assumptions about these factors could affect reported fair value of financial instruments. 
 
Share-based payments 
 
Note 11 (c) outlines the significant assumptions made when accounting for share-based 
payments. Changes to these assumptions may alter the resulting accounting and 
ultimately the amount charged to profit or loss. 

 
(d) Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, cash balances held with banks and 
brokers and highly liquid short-term investments with terms of less than 90 days. 
 

(e) Inventories  
 
Finished goods, work-in-process, and stockpiled ore are valued at the lower of average 
production cost and net realizable value. Production costs include the cost of raw 
materials, direct labour, mine-site overhead expenses and depreciation and depletion of 
mining interests. Net realizable value is calculated as the estimated price at the time of 
sale based on prevailing and long-term metal prices less estimated future production costs 
to convert the inventories into saleable form.   
 
Ore extracted from the mines is stockpiled and subsequently processed into finished 
goods. Production costs are capitalized and included in work-in- process inventory based 
on the current mining costs incurred up to the point prior to the refining process, 
including applicable overhead, depreciation and depletion relating to mining interests, 
and removed at the average production cost per recoverable ounce of gold. The average 
production costs of finished goods represent the average costs of work-in-process 
inventories incurred prior to the refining process, plus applicable refining costs and 
associated royalties. 
 
Supplies are valued at the lower of average cost and net realizable value.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(f) Mining interests   
 
Mineral interests include mining properties and related plant and equipment. 
  
Mining properties 
 
Mining properties are classified into three categories as follows: 
   
(i) Reserves - Reserves are classified as depletable mining properties in Note 6 when 

operating levels intended by management have been reached. Prior to this, they 
are classified as non-depletable mining properties.  

 
(ii) Resources - Resources represent the property interests that are believed to 

potentially contain economic mineralized material such as inferred material 
within pits; measured, indicated, and inferred resources with insufficient drill 
spacing to qualify as proven and probable reserves; and inferred resources in 
close proximity to proven and probable reserves.  

 
(iii) Exploration potential - Exploration potential represents the estimated mineralized 

material contained within areas adjacent to existing reserves and mineralization 
located within the immediate mine area; areas outside of immediate mine areas 
that are not part of measured, indicated, or inferred resources; and greenfields 
exploration potential that is not associated with any other production, 
development, or exploration stage property.   

 
Resources and exploration potential are classified as non-depletable mining properties 
(Note 6). The value associated with resources and exploration potential is the value 
beyond proven and probable reserves which includes amounts assigned from costs of 
property acquisitions. At least annually or when otherwise appropriate and subsequent to 
a review and evaluation for impairment, carrying amounts of non-depletable mining 
properties are reclassified to depletable mining properties as a result of the conversion 
into reserves that have reached operating levels intended by management. 
 
Recognition 
 
Capitalized costs associated with mining properties include the following:  
 
(i) Costs of direct acquisitions of production, development and exploration stage 

properties; 
(ii) Costs attributed to mining properties acquired in connection with business 

combinations; 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(f) Mining interests (continued) 
Recognition (continued) 

(iii) Expenditures related to the development of mining properties;  
(iv) Expenditures related to economically recoverable exploration;  
(v) Borrowing costs incurred directly attributable to qualifying assets; 
(vi) Certain costs incurred during production, net of proceeds from sales prior to 

reaching operating levels intended by management; and 
(vii) Estimates of reclamation and closure costs. 
 
Capitalization ceases when an asset is capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. 
 
Acquisitions: 
 
The cost of a property acquired as an individual asset purchase or as part of a business 
combination represents the property’s fair value at the date of acquisition. This cost is 
capitalized until the viability of the mining property is determined. When it is determined 
that a property is not economically viable, the amount capitalized is written off which 
includes expenditures which were capitalized to the carrying amount of the property 
subsequent to its acquisition. 

 
Development expenditures: 
 
Drilling and related costs incurred to define and delineate a mineral deposit that has not 
been classified as proven and probable reserves at a development stage or production 
stage mine are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the related property in the 
period incurred, when management determines that there is sufficient evidence that the 
expenditure will result in a future economic benefit to the Corporation. 
 
Drilling and related costs incurred on sites without an existing mine and on areas outside 
the boundary of a known mineral deposit which contains proven and probable reserves 
are exploration expenditures and are expensed as incurred to the date of establishing that 
costs incurred are economically recoverable. Further exploration expenditures, 
subsequent to the establishment of economic recoverability, are capitalized and included 
in the carrying amount of the related property.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(f) Mining interests (continued) 
Recognition (continued) 
Development expenditures: (continued) 
 
Management uses the following criteria in its assessments of economic recoverability and 
probability of future economic benefit: 
 
 Geology: there is sufficient geologic and economic certainty of converting a residual 

mineral deposit into a proven and probable reserve at a development stage or 
production stage mine, based on the known geology and metallurgy. There is a 
history of conversion of resources to reserves at operating mines to support the 
likelihood of conversion. 
 
 

 Scoping: there is a scoping study or preliminary feasibility study that demonstrates 
the additional resources will generate a positive commercial outcome. Known 
metallurgy provides a basis for concluding there is a significant likelihood of being 
able to recoup the incremental costs of extraction and production.  

 

 Accessible facilities: the mining property can be processed economically at 
accessible mining and processing facilities where applicable. 

 

 Life of mine plans: an overall life of mine plan and economic model to support the 
mine and the economic extraction of resources/reserves exists. A long-term life of 
mine plan, and supporting geological model identifies the drilling and related 
development work required to expand or further define the existing ore body. 
 

 Authorizations: operating permits and feasible environmental programs exist or are 
obtainable.  

 
Therefore prior to capitalizing exploration drilling, development and related costs, 
management determines that the following conditions have been met: 

 It is probable that a future economic benefit will flow to the Corporation; 
 The Corporation can obtain the benefit and controls access to it; and 
 The transaction or event giving rise to the future economic benefit has already 

occurred. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(f) Mining interests (continued) 
Recognition (continued) 
 
Borrowing costs: 
 
Borrowing costs are capitalized when they are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a 
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale.  Borrowing costs are 
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for 
their intended use or sale, or when the funds used to develop the qualifying asset are from 
general borrowings.  Where the funds used to finance a qualifying asset form part of 
general borrowings, the amount capitalized is calculated using a weighted average of the 
rates applicable during the period.  Investment income earned on the temporary 
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is 
deducted from borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.  All other borrowing costs are 
recognized in the profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
Costs incurred during production: 
 
Capitalization of costs incurred ceases when an asset is capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management. Production costs incurred prior to this point are 
capitalized and the proceeds from sales are offset against costs capitalized.  
 
Mine development costs incurred to maintain current production are included in profit or 
loss. The distinction between mining expenditures incurred to develop new ore bodies 
and to develop mine areas in advance of current production is mainly the production 
timeframe of the mining area. For those areas being developed, which will be mined in 
future periods, the costs incurred are capitalized and depleted when the related mining 
area is mined as compared to current production areas where development costs are 
considered as costs of sales and included in operating expenses given that the short-term 
nature of these expenditures matches the economic benefit of the ore being mined. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(f) Mining interests (continued) 
Recognition (continued) 
Costs incurred during production: (continued) 
 
In open pit mining operations, it is necessary to incur costs to remove overburden and 
other mine waste materials in order to access the ore body (“stripping costs”). During the 
development of a mine, stripping costs are capitalized and included in the carrying 
amount of the related mining property and depleted over the productive life of the mine 
using the unit-of-production method. During the production phase of a mine, stripping 
costs incurred to provide access to sources of reserves that will be produced in future 
periods that would not have otherwise been accessible are capitalized and included in the 
carrying amount of the related mining property. Stripping costs incurred and capitalized 
during the production phase are depleted using the unit-of-production method over the 
reserves that directly benefit from the specific stripping activity. Costs incurred for 
regular waste removal that do not give rise to future economic benefits are considered as 
costs of sales and included in operating expenses. 
 
Measurement 
 
Mining properties are recorded at cost less accumulated depletion and impairment losses.  
 
Depletion: 
 
Mining properties classified as reserves are depleted using the unit-of-production method 
based on the estimated total recoverable ounces contained in measured and indicated 
reserves at the related mine when the properties are capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management.   
 
Management reviews the estimated total recoverable ounces contained in measured and 
indicated reserves at each financial year end and when events and circumstances indicate 
that such a review should be made. Changes to estimated total recoverable ounces 
contained in measured and indicated reserves are accounted for prospectively. 

 
Plant and equipment 
 
Plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. Plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method or the unit- of-
production method based on ounces produced, over the estimated useful lives of the 
related assets using the following rates:  
 
Plant Life of mine 
Computer equipment 3 years 
Fixtures and furnishings 5 years 

  



ENDEAVOUR MINING CORPORATION 
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Thousands of United States Dollars, except per share amounts) 
(Unaudited) 

 

51 | P a g e  
 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(f) Mining interests (continued) 
Plant and equipment (continued) 

 
Amounts expended on assets under construction are capitalized until the asset becomes 
available for its intended use, at which time depreciation commences on the assets over 
its useful life. Repairs and maintenance of plant and equipment are expensed as incurred. 
Costs incurred to enhance the service potential of plant and equipment are capitalized and 
depreciated over the remaining useful life of the improved asset.  
 
Derecognition 
 
Upon disposal or abandonment, the carrying amounts of mining properties and plant and 
equipment and accumulated depreciation and depletion are removed from the accounts 
and any associated gains or losses are recorded in profit or loss. 

 
(g) Business combinations 

 
A business combination is defined as an acquisition of assets and liabilities that constitute 
a business. A business is an integrated set of activities and assets that is capable of being 
conducted and managed for the purpose of providing a return to the Corporation and its 
shareholders in the form of dividends, lower costs or other economic benefits. A business 
consists of inputs, including non-current assets, and processes, including operational 
processes, that when applied to those inputs, have the ability to create outputs that 
provide a return to the Corporation and its shareholders. A business also includes those 
assets and liabilities that do not necessarily have all the inputs and processes required to 
produce outputs, but can be integrated with the inputs and processes of the Corporation to 
create outputs. When acquiring a set of activities or assets in the exploration and 
development stage, which may not have outputs, the Corporation considers other factors 
to determine whether the set of activities or assets is a business. Those factors include, 
but are not limited to, whether the set of activities or assets: 
 
(i)  has commenced planned principal activities; 
(ii)  has employees, intellectual property and other inputs and processes that could be 

applied to those inputs; 
(iii)  is pursuing a plan to produce outputs; and 
(iv)  will be able to obtain access to customers that will purchase the outputs. Not all 

of the above factors need to be present for a particular integrated set of activities 
or assets in the exploration and development stage to qualify as a business. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(g) Business combinations (continued) 
 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method whereby 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, including contingent liabilities, are 
recorded at their acquisition-date fair values. The acquisition date is the date the 
Corporation obtains control over the acquiree, which is generally the date that 
consideration is transferred and the Corporation acquires the assets and assumes the 
liabilities of the acquiree. The Corporation considers all relevant facts and circumstances 
in determining the acquisition date. 

 
The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which 
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the 
Corporation, the liabilities, including contingent consideration, incurred and payable by 
the Corporation to former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the 
Corporation. The measurement date for equity interests issued by the Corporation is the 
acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs, other than costs to issue debt or equity 
securities, of the acquirer, including investment banking fees, legal fees, accounting fees, 
valuation fees, and other professional or consulting fees are expensed as incurred. The 
costs to issue equity securities of the Corporation as consideration for the acquisition are 
reduced from share capital as share issue costs. 

 
It generally requires time to obtain the information necessary to identify and measure the 
following as of the acquisition date: 

 
(i)  The identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any non-controlling 

interest in the acquiree; 
(ii)  The consideration transferred in exchange for interest in the acquiree; 
(iii)  In a business combination achieved in stages, the equity interest in the acquiree 

previously held by the acquirer; and 
(iv)  The resulting goodwill or gain on a bargain purchase. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(g) Business combinations (continued) 
 

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the 
reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Corporation reports in its financial 
statements provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 
During the measurement period, the Corporation will retrospectively adjust the 
provisional amounts recognized at the acquisition date to reflect new information 
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and, if 
known, would have affected the measurement of the amounts recognized as of that date. 
During the measurement period, the Corporation will also recognize additional assets or 
liabilities if new information is obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of 
the acquisition date and, if known, would have resulted in the recognition of those assets 
and liabilities as of that date. The measurement period ends as soon as the Corporation 
receives the information it was seeking about facts and circumstances that existed as of 
the acquisition date or learns that more information is not obtainable and shall not exceed 
one year from the acquisition date. 

 
Non-controlling interests are recorded at their proportionate share of the fair value of 
identifiable net assets acquired on initial recognition. The excess of (i) total consideration 
transferred by the Company, measured at fair value, including contingent consideration, 
and (ii) the non-controlling interests in the acquiree, over the acquisition-date fair value 
of net assets acquired, is recorded as goodwill. 
 
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to cash generating units 
(“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from synergies of the business 
combination.  The CGU or group of CGUs to which goodwill is allocated represents the 
lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and no 
larger than an operating segment. 

 
(h) Intangible assets 

 
Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated lives and 
tested for impairment when events or circumstances indicate the carrying amounts may 
not be recoverable. Customer relationships are amortized over 15 years.  Customer 
contracts and other intangible assets have amortization periods of up to four years. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(i) Impairments 
 

At each reporting date, the Corporation reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and 
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that the carrying value of 
the assets are not recoverable.  If such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of any impairment. Where the asset 
does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Corporation 
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. An intangible 
asset with an indefinite useful life is tested for impairment annually or whenever there is 
an indication that the asset may be impaired. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which estimates of future cash flows 
have not been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of an asset of CGU is estimated to be 
less than it carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. An impairment is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
 
When an impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 
had no impairment been recognized for the asset or CGU in prior years.  A reversal of an 
impairment is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
 
The Corporation performs goodwill impairment tests annually or when events and 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may no longer be recoverable. In 
performing the impairment tests, the Corporation estimates the recoverable amount of its 
CGUs that include goodwill and compares recoverable amounts to the CGU’s carrying 
amount. If a CGU’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the Corporation 
reduces the carrying value of the CGU or group of CGUs by first reducing the carrying 
amount of the goodwill and then reducing the carrying amount of the remaining assets on 
a pro-rata basis. 
 
Impairment of goodwill cannot be reversed. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(j) Leases  
 
Leases in which the Corporation assumes substantially all risks and rewards of ownership 
are classified as finance leases. Assets held under finance leases are recognized at the 
lower of the fair value and the present value of minimum lease payments at inception of 
the lease, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
 
Rentals payable under operating leases are expensed on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the relevant lease. 
 

(k) Income and mining taxes 
 
The Corporation uses the liability method of accounting for income and mining taxes. 
Under the liability method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future 
tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying 
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and for unused tax 
losses and other income tax deductions. In a business combination, the liability method 
requires the tax effects of such differences to be recognized as deferred income tax assets 
and liabilities and included in the allocation of the cost of purchase. Deferred income 
taxes are not recognized for temporary differences that arise from differences between the 
fair values and tax bases of assets acquired in a transaction other than a business 
combination. 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax 
rates expected to apply if the related assets are realized or the liabilities are settled. A 
valuation allowance is recorded against a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will not be available against which deductible temporary 
differences can be utilized. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in 
tax rates is recognized in earnings in the period in which the change is substantively 
enacted. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are considered monetary assets. Deferred tax 
balances denominated in other than US dollars are translated into US dollars using 
current exchange rates at the reporting date. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set 
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority and the Corporation intends to settle its current tax 
assets and liabilities on a net basis.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(l) Financial instruments  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Corporation becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.  Transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and 
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets 
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognized immediately in profit or loss.  
 
Financial assets  
 
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: available-for-sale 
(“AFS”), loans and receivables, fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), or  held-to-
maturity investments. 
 
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is 
determined at the time of initial recognition.   
 
Financial assets at FVTPL 
 
Financial assets are classified as FVTPL when the financial asset is either held for trading 
or is designated as FVTPL upon initial recognition and are stated at fair value, with any 
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognized in profit or loss. The net gain or loss 
recognized in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial 
asset and is included in the interest and dividend line item in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
 
The Corporation classifies its investments in marketable securities as FVTPL. The 
purchase and sale of investments are recognized on the trade date, which is the date that 
the Corporation commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

 
Investment transactions are accounted for on the day that a buy or sell order is executed.  
Dividend income, including stock dividends, is recorded on the ex-dividend date when 
the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been established. Interest income is 
recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Corporation 
and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. It is recorded on the accrual basis 
by reference to the principal outstanding and the effective interest rate applicable, which 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life 
of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(l) Financial instruments (continued) 
Financial assets (continued) 
Financial assets at FVTPL (continued) 
 
Realized gains and losses and investment income are recorded on the accrual basis.  
Realized gains and losses on investment transactions and the unrealized appreciation or 
depreciation of investments are computed on an average cost basis. The unrealized 
appreciation or depreciation of investments represents the aggregate of the difference 
between their average cost and fair value at the reporting date.  

 
Held-to-maturity investments 
 
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturity dates that the Corporation has the positive 
intent and ability to hold to maturity.  Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity 
investments are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment.  
 
Available-for-sale financial assets (“AFS financial assets”) 
 
AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as AFS or are not 
classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss.  

 
Changes in the carrying amount of AFS monetary financial assets relating to changes in 
foreign currency rates, interest income calculated using the effective interest method and 
dividends on AFS equity investments are recognized in profit or loss. Other changes in 
the carrying amount of AFS financial assets are recognized in other comprehensive 
income.  Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is 
reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables (including the 
Corporation’s trade and other receivables) are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.  

 
 The Corporation has designated cash and cash equivalents as loans and receivables. 

Interest income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term 
receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(l) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

Financial liabilities and equity instruments 
 
Classification as debt or equity 
 
Debt and equity instruments issued by the Corporation are classified as either financial 
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements 
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. 
 
Equity instruments  
 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an 
entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Corporation 
are recognized as proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

 
Financial liabilities 
  
Financial liabilities are classified as FVTPL when the financial liability is either held or 
trading or is designated FVTPL upon initial recognition and are stated at fair value, with 
any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognized in profit or loss.  
 
Other financial liabilities (including long-term debt and trade and other payables) are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  The 
Corporation has designated its long-term debt as other liabilities. 
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees  
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on 
initial recognition. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(l) Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Impairment of financial assets   
 
Financial assets other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at 
the end of each reporting period.  Financial assets are considered to be impaired when 
there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 
initial recognition of the financial asset that the asset is impaired and the decline in fair 
value is other than temporary. 
 
Derivative financial instruments 
 
Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are 
entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each 
reporting period.  The resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss immediately 
unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event 
the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge 
relationship.  

 
Further details of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in Note 9. 
 
Embedded derivatives 
 
Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are treated as separate derivatives 
when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts, a 
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would also meet the 
definition of a derivative. 
 

(m) Share-based payment arrangements  
 
Share-based payment transactions of the Corporation 
 
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services 
are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. Details 
regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based transactions are 
set out in Note 11(c). 
 
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is 
expensed on a graded basis over the vesting period, based on the Corporation's estimate 
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity.  
At the end of each reporting period, the Corporation revises its estimate of the number of 
equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, 
if any, is recognized in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised 
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the equity reserve. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(m) Share-based payment arrangements (continued) 
 
Share-based payment transactions in an equity transaction  
 
When the share-based payment awards held by the employees of an acquiree are replaced 
by the Corporation's share-based payment awards, both the acquiree awards and the 
replacement awards are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment 
("market-based measure") at the transaction date.  The portion of the replacement awards 
that is included in measuring the consideration transferred in a business combination 
equals the market-based measure of the acquiree awards multiplied by the ratio of the 
portion of the vesting period completed to the greater of the total vesting period or the 
original vesting period of the acquiree award. The excess of the market-based measure of 
the replacement awards over the market-based measure of the acquiree awards included 
in measuring the consideration transferred is recognized as remuneration cost for post-
transaction service.  

 
(n) Foreign currency translation 

 
The presentation and functional currency of the Corporation is the US dollar.  The 
individual financial statements of each subsidiary are presented in the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). In 
preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies 
other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the spot 
exchange rate on the transaction date. Monetary items are translated at the closing rate at 
the end of each reporting period. 
  
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in a foreign currency are 
translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.  Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using exchange rates at the date of the transaction. 
 
For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities 
of entities whose functional currency is not the US dollar are translated using exchange 
rates prevailing at the reporting date. Income and expense items are translated at the 
average exchange rates for the period. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
  
(o)  Earnings per share  

 
Earnings per share calculations are based on the weighted average number of common 
shares issued and outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share are calculated 
using the treasury stock method, whereby the  proceeds from the potential exercise of 
dilutive stock options and share purchase warrants with exercise prices that are below the 
average market price of the underlying shares are assumed to be used in purchasing the 
Corporation’s commons shares at their average market price for the period.  In addition, 
the effect of the Corporation’s dilutive share purchase warrants includes adjusting the 
numerator for mark-to-market gains and losses recognized in profit or loss during the 
period for changes in the fair value of the dilutive share purchase warrants.    
 

(p) Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue from the sale of gold is recognized when the Corporation has transferred to the 
buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership.  The Corporation retains neither 
continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership or 
effective control over the goods sold; the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; it 
is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity; and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the sale can be measured 
reliably. Revenue is net of royalties, not considered to be an income tax. 

 
(q) Financial and treasury services 

 
The financial and treasury services team is assisting with the implementation of the 
acquisition strategy of the Corporation.   In addition, they also provide debt, equity, 
mergers and acquisition and strategic business development advice to external clients. 
The fees earned from external clients consist of monthly retainer fees and transaction 
success fees.  The monthly retainer fees are recognized as services are rendered and 
collectability is reasonably assured.  Transaction success fees are recorded when all the 
services have been rendered, the related transaction has closed and collectability is 
reasonably assured.  The overhead costs attributable to the financial and treasury services 
team, including all performance related bonuses paid have been netted against the fees 
earned. 
 

(r) Provisions 
 
Provisions are recorded when a present legal or constructive obligation arises as a result 
of past events where it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of 
the obligation can be made.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(r) Provisions (continued) 
 
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be 
required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  A 
provision is recognized even if likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item 
included in the same class of obligations may be small.  Provisions are measured at the 
present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a 
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and risks 
specific to the obligation.  The increase in the provision due to passage of time is 
recognized as interest expense.  
 
Decommissioning and restoration provisions 
 
The Corporation’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various governmental 
laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment. These environmental 
regulations are continually changing. The Corporation has made, and intends to make in 
the future, expenditures to comply with such laws and regulations or constructive 
obligations. The Corporation records a liability for the estimated future rehabilitation 
costs and decommissioning of its operating and inactive mines and development projects 
at the time the environmental disturbance occurs, discounted to net present value. The net 
present value is determined using the risk rate specific to the liability. The estimated net 
present value of rehabilitation and decommissioning cost is re-measured on an annual 
basis or when changes in circumstances occur and/or new material information becomes 
available. Increases or decreases to the provision arise due to changes in legal or 
regulatory requirements, the extent of environmental remediation required and cost 
estimates. The net present value of the estimated costs of these changes is recorded in the 
period which the change is identified and quantifiable. Rehabilitation and 
decommissioning cost relating to operating mines and development projects are recorded 
with a corresponding increase to the carrying amounts of related assets. Rehabilitation 
and decommissioning cost related to inactive mines are recorded directly in earnings as 
rehabilitation expense included in depreciation and depletion.   
 

(s) Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective 
 

The following standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2013, with earlier adoption permitted. The Corporation has not early adopted these 
standards and is currently assessing the impact they will have on the condensed 
consolidated financial statements. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(s) Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments: The standard is the first part of a multi-phase project to 
replace IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.  
 
IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements: IFRS 10 establishes principles for the 
presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements when an entity controls 
one or more other entities. IFRS 10 supersedes IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements, and SIC-12, Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. 

 
IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements: IFRS 11 establishes principles for financial reporting by 
parties to a joint arrangement. IFRS 11 supersedes current IAS 31, Interests in Joint 
Ventures and SIC-13, Jointly Controlled Entities-Non – Monetary Contributions by 
Venturers.   
 
IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: IFRS 12 applies to entities that have 
an interest in a subsidiary, a joint arrangement, an associate or an unconsolidated 
structured entity. 
 
IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurements: IFRS 13 defines fair value, sets out in a single IFRS 
framework for measuring value and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. 
The IFRS 13 applies to IFRSs that require or permit fair value measurements or 
disclosures about fair value measurements (and measurements, such as fair value less 
costs to sell, based on fair value or disclosures about those measurements), except in 
specified circumstances.   
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3. BUSINESS COMBINATION   
 
Acquisition of Etruscan Resources Inc. (“Etruscan”) 
 
(a) Etruscan acquisition 
 

On October 23, 2009 the Corporation acquired 55% of Etruscan’s common shares 
through open market purchases and a private placement (the “Acquisition”). Endeavour 
has accounted for the acquisition of Etruscan as a business combination under IFRS 3 
using the acquisition method. 

 
The consideration was allocated on the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed, including the allocation of property, plant and equipment to depletable and non-
depletable properties as follows: 
 
Purchase price:
    Cash consideration 58,265$           

Net assets acquired:
    Net working capital acquired (including cash of $46.7 million) 49,888$           
    Mining interests 178,107           
    Reclamation deposits 1,443               

Fair value of gold contracts (53,450)            
Fair value of warrants (9,587)              
Long-term debt (48,225)            
Provisions for reclamation (4,077)              
Deferred income and mining taxes (8,107)              
Non-controlling interest (47,727)            

58,265$           
 

 
Included in the statement of comprehensive loss for the year ended June 30, 2010 is 
$7.6 million of net loss attributable to Etruscan for the period of October 23, 2009 to June 
30, 2010. 
 

(b) Plan of Arrangement 
 

On September 10, 2010, the Corporation acquired the remaining 45% of Etruscan 
common shares it did not already own, pursuant to a plan of arrangement (the 
“Arrangement”). As this change in ownership did not result in a change in control, it was 
accounted for as an equity transaction eliminating the non-controlling interest balances, 
accounting for the additional consideration with the difference being charged to retained 
earnings. 
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3. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 
 
Acquisition of Etruscan Resources Inc. (“Etruscan”) (continued) 

 
(b) Plan of Arrangement (continued) 

 
The Arrangement involved the following; 

 
(i) each Etruscan shareholder received 0.0932 of an Endeavour share plus C$0.26 in 

cash for each Etruscan share; 
 

(ii) each Etruscan warrant was replaced with a new warrant entitling the holder to 
receive 0.0932 of an Endeavour share plus C$0.26 in cash on exercise of such 
warrant, at the same aggregate exercise price of the original Etruscan warrant. 
The term to expiry, conditions to and manner of exercising, vesting schedule and 
all other terms and conditions of the new warrant remained unchanged from the 
existing Etruscan warrant; and 
 

(iii) each outstanding Etruscan option was replaced with a new option entitling the 
holder to receive 0.0932 of an Endeavour common share for each Etruscan 
common share previously issuable under the terminated Etruscan option plan, at 
an exercise price per 0.0932 of an Endeavour common share equal to the exercise 
price per Etruscan common share of such Etruscan option less C$0.26. The term 
to expiry, conditions to and manner of exercising, vesting schedule and all other 
terms and conditions of the new option remained unchanged from the existing 
Etruscan option. 

 
Upon closing of the Arrangement, Endeavour paid $41.4 million in cash and issued 
15,401,909 common shares to former Etruscan shareholders.  The common shares were 
valued using the closing price on the Toronto Stock Exchange on September 10, 2010 
$2.62 (C$2.72).  

 
The options and warrants were valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model 
using the following assumptions:   
 
Risk-free interest rate 1.6%
Expected life 2.3 years
Annualized volatility 66.4%
Dividend rate 0.0%  
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4. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 
 

As part of the Etruscan Acquisition (Note 3 (a)), Endeavour acquired an interest in diamond 
properties in South Africa.  On September 9, 2010, Endeavour’s diamond subsidiaries entered 
into an agreement of purchase and sale with a subsidiary of Rockwell Diamonds Limited 
(TSX:RDI) (“Rockwell”), whereby Rockwell agreed to acquire all of Endeavour’s interest in its 
diamond operations together with the interest of other third parties for an amount not exceeding 
approximately $4.9 million (ZAR 33.5 million), payable in shares of Rockwell valued at C$0.068 
per share. In addition, as part of the consideration, Rockwell agreed to assume all the debt and 
contingent liabilities of the Corporation related to Endeavours interest.  As at March 31, 2011, the 
net liabilities of the diamond operations were $2.2 million. 

 
The carrying values of the diamond subsidiaries are comprised of: 
 

March 31,
 2011

December 31, 
2010

June 30, 
2010

July 1, 
2009

Assets

   Cash and cash equivalents 31$          45$              -$       -$       
   Trade and other receivables 199          188              -         -         
   Inventory 22            22                -         -         
   Prepaid expenses and other 4             5                 -         -         
   Mineral interests 9,856       9,967           -         -         
   Reclamation deposit 1,949       1,961           -         -         

12,061$    12,188$        -$       -$       

Liabilities

    Trade and other payables 4,691$      4,335$          -$       -$       
    Debt 7,485       7,585           -         -         
    Provision for reclamation 2,137       2,085           -         -         

14,313$    14,005$        -$       -$       

 
There was no loss on the diamond subsidiaries when the assets were classified as assets held for 
sale as they were recorded at zero net book value in the purchase price allocation relating to the 
Acquisition. As a result of diamond subsidiaries ceasing operations several years ago, there was 
no revenue or pretax profit or loss reported in the current period as a discontinued operation in the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income and cash flows. 
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5. INVENTORIES 

March 31, 
2011

December 31,
 2010

June 30, 
2010

July 1, 
2009

 
Dore bars 2,026$        2,539$          6,550$          -$        
Gold in circuit 1,368          1,483           480              -          
Ore stockpiles 1,382          1,488           1,600           -          
Spare parts and supplies 14,062        13,767          11,663          -          
Other 84              84                228              -          

18,922$      19,361$        20,521$        -$        
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6. MINING INTERESTS 
 

Depletable
Non- 

depletable
Plant and 
equipment

Corporate 
assets Total

Cost
Balance as at July 1, 2009 -$             -$          -$        629$       629$         
Acquisition of Etruscan  
  (Note 3(a)) 80,510          26,738       70,400     459         178,107     
Additions 3,001           2,548         1,712       82           7,343        
Disposals -              (10)            -          -         (10)           
Balance as at June 30, 2010 83,511          29,276       72,112     1,170      186,069     
Additions 4,097           2,738         1,402       156         8,393        
Assets held for sale (Note 4) -              (8,791)        (1,338)      -         (10,129)     
Disposals -              -            (1,171)      (44)         (1,215)       
Balance as at December 31, 2010 87,608          23,223       71,005     1,282      183,118     
Additions -              2,493         1,061       99           3,653        
Assets held for sale (Note 4) -              -            -          -         -           
Disposals -              -            (356)        (15)         (371)         
Balance as at March 31, 2011 87,608$        25,716$     71,710$    1,366$     186,400$   

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses

Balance as at July 1, 2009 -$             -$          -$        331$       331$         
Acquisition of Etruscan 
   (Note 3(a)) -              -            -          -         -           
Depreciation/depletion 5,206           -            4,696       302         10,204      
Balance as at June 30, 2010 5,206           -            4,696       633         10,535      
Depreciation/depletion 3,996           -            4,339       85           8,420        
Assets held for sale (Note 4) -              -            (172)        -         (172)         
Disposals -              -            (319)        -         (319)         
Balance as at December 31, 2010 9,202           -            8,544       718         18,464      
Depreciation/depletion 2,006           -            1,885       47           3,938        
Disposals -              -            (108)        -         (108)         
Balance as at March 31, 2011 11,208$        -$          10,321$    765$       22,294$     

Carrying amounts
At July 1, 2009 -$             -$          -$        298$       298$         
At June 30, 2010 78,305$        29,276$     67,416$    537$       175,534$   
At December 31, 2010 78,406$        23,223$     62,461$    564$       164,654$   
At March 31, 2011 76,400$        25,716$     61,389$    601$       164,106$   

Mining Properties
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6. MINING INTERESTS (continued) 
 
A summary by property of the carrying value is as follows: 
 

Youga Mine
Agbaou 
Project

Finkolo 
Project

Diamond 
property Rare Earth Corporate Total

Cost

Balance as at July 1, 2009 -$                -$           -$        -$          -$          629$         629$         
Acquisition of Etruscan 
   (Note 3(a)) 153,868          10,353       3,298       10,129      -            459           178,107    

Additions 5,916              483            127          -            735           82             7,343        

Disposals -                  -             -          -            (10)            (10)            

Balance as at June 30, 2010 159,784          10,836       3,425       10,129      725           1,170        186,069    

Additions 6,039              551            14            -            1,633        156           8,393        

Assets held for Sale (Note 4) -                  -             -          (10,129)     -            -            (10,129)     

Disposals (1,171)             -             -          -            -            (44)            (1,215)       

Balance as at December 31, 2010 164,652          11,387       3,439       -            2,358        1,282        183,118    

Additions 2,372              568            88            -            526           99             3,653        

Disposals (356)                -             -          -            -            (15)            (371)          

Balance as at March 31, 2011 166,668$        11,955$     3,527$     -$          2,884$      1,366$      186,400$  

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses

Balance as at July 1, 2009 -$                -$           -$        -$          -$          331$         331$         

Depreciation/depletion 9,802              -             -          100           -            302 10,204      

Balance as at June 30, 2010 9,802              -             -          100           -            633           10,535      

Depreciation/depletion 8,263              -             -          72             -            85             8,420        

Disposals (319)                -             -          -            -            -            (319)          

Assets held for sale (Note 4) -                  -             -          (172)          -            -            (172)          

Balance as at December 31, 2010 17,746            -             -          -            -            718           18,464      

Depreciation/depletion 3,891              -             -          -            -            47             3,938        

Disposals (108)                -             -          -            -            -            (108)          

Balance as at March 31, 2011 21,529$          -$           -$        -$          -$          765$         22,294$    

Carrying amounts

At July 1, 2009 -$                -$           -$        -$          -$          298$         298$         

At June 30, 2010 149,982$        10,836$     3,425$     10,029$    725$         537$         175,534$  

At December 31, 2010 146,906$        11,387$     3,439$     -$          2,358$      564$         164,654$  

At March 31, 2011 145,139$        11,955$     3,527$     -$          2,884$      601$         164,106$  
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7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  AND GOODWILL 
  

In connection with the acquisition of Endeavour Financial Corporation (“EFC”), formerly 
Endeavour Financial Advisory Services Ltd., on July 30, 2007, intangible assets were acquired 
that are comprised of the following: 

Customer 
relationships

Customer 
contracts

Other 
intangible 

assets Total

Cost

Balance as at July 1, 2009, June 30, 
2010, December 31, 2010 and March 
31, 2011 25,000$         8,141$      3,000$      36,141$    

Accumulated amortization

Balance as at July 1, 2009 3,194$           6,281$      1,917$      11,392$    
Amortization 1,667             980          1,000        3,647        
Balance as at June 30, 2010 4,861             7,261        2,917        15,039      
Amortization 833               880          83            1,796        
Balance as at December 31, 2010 5,694             8,141        3,000        16,835      
Amortization 417               -           -           417          
Balance as at March 31, 2011 6,111$           8,141$      3,000$      17,252$    

Carrying amounts

As at July 1, 2009 21,806$         1,860$      1,083$      24,749$    
As at June 30, 2010 20,139$         880$         83$          21,102$    
As at December 31, 2010 19,306$         -$         -$         19,306$    
As at March 31, 2011 18,889$         -$         -$         18,889$    

 
As part of the acquisition of EFC, the Corporation allocated part of the consideration to goodwill. 
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8. LONG-TERM DEBT   
 
Summary of borrowing arrangements: 

March 31, 
2011

December 31, 
2010

June 30, 
2010

July 1, 
2009

RMB Australia Holdings Limited 
   and Macquarie Bank Limited -
   Youga debt Facility (a) -$             -$              29,000$  -$       
Deferred financing costs (1,626)     

-              -               27,374    -         

Diamond operations debt (Note 4) -              -               6,978      -         

Total debt -              -               34,352    -         
Less: current portion -              -               (10,300)   -         

-$             -$              24,052$  -$       
 

 
(a) On November 30, 2006, Burkina Mining Company, which operates the Youga Gold 

Mine executed a debt facility agreement for $35.0 million (the “Debt Facility”) with 
RMB Australia Holdings Limited (“RMB”) and Macquarie Bank Limited (“Macquarie”) 
for purposes of developing the Youga Gold Mine.  The debt facility was repaid in full 
during the six month period ended December 31, 2010.  
 

(b) On June 25, 2010 the Corporation entered into a $100 million revolving credit acquisition 
debt facility agreement (the “Facility”) for the purposes of acquiring shares of any 
corporation or projects engaged in the development or mining of precious metals and for 
capital investments or debt repayment. The Facility matures on June 25, 2013, and is 
subject to an interest rate of LIBOR plus different levels of margin ranging from 3.75% 
to 5.5%. The Facility is secured by the shares of Etruscan. As at March 31, 2011, 
December 31, 2010 and June 30, 2010 there were no amounts drawn down on the 
Facility. 
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9. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

March 31, 
2011

December 31,
 2010

June 30, 
2010

July 1, 
2009

 
Gold price protection 35,300$      40,600$        39,450$        -$        
Share purchase warrants 31,463        31,186          29,341          12,858     

66,763        71,786          68,791          12,858     
Less:  Current portion (25,700)       (25,500)        (20,900)        -          
Long-term derivative 41,063$      46,286$        47,891$        12,858$   

 
March 31, 

2011
March 31, 

2010
Change in fair value of gold price

protection program (737)$               (2,013)$          
Change in fair value of share purchase warrants (277)                 (7,997)           
Total loss on financial derivatives (Note 13) (1,014)$             (10,010)$        

 
(a) Gold price protection program 
 

Etruscan implemented a gold price protection program for the Youga Gold Mine which 
was a requirement under the initial $35.0 million debt facility (Note 8).  The gold price 
protection program is comprised of a combination of bought put options and sold call 
options whereby 100% of forecast gold production for the first five years of the project 
(initially 456,102 ounces) was price-protected at a minimum price of $629 per ounce.  
The put options were funded by writing call options covering 45% of the feasibility study 
life-of-mine production (initially 246,306 ounces) and have a strike price of $700 per 
ounce. The program required no cash or other margin.  

 
In October 2009, following the Acquisition of Etruscan (Refer to Note 3(a)) the 
Corporation used $23.0 million of cash to reduce the derivative liability. 

 
As at March 31, 2011, call options totaling 106,262 ounces were settled with delivery of 
gold production, 92,492 were settled with cash payments and put options totaling 
336,938 ounces expired unexercised.    
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9. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

(a) Gold price protection program (continued) 
 

The following table details the options contracts as at March 31, 2011: 
  

Period

Bought Put 
Options 
(ounces)

Price per 
ounce

Sold Call 
Options 
(ounces)

Price Per 
Ounce Fair Value

2011 (April - December) 66,826       629$      26,668      700$      25,700$      
2012 (January - August) 52,338       629        20,884      700        9,600         

119,164     629$      47,552      700$      35,300$      
 

 
Three months ended

March 31, 
2011

March 31, 
2010

Realized (loss) gain - gold price  
   protection program (6,037)$             87$               
Change in unrealized gain (loss) - gold    
   price protection program 5,300                (2,100)           

(737)$               (2,013)$          

 
(b) Share purchase warrants  

 
The Corporation’s share purchase warrants have exercise prices denominated in 
currencies other than the Corporation’s functional currency, being the US dollar, which 
requires that they be classified and accounted for as derivative financial liabilities at fair 
values, with changes in fair values being included in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.   
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10. PROVISIONS 
 

(a) Environmental rehabilitation provision 
 

The present value of the Corporation’s reclamation liability for the Youga Gold Mine at 
March 31, 2011 is $2.3 million, calculated using a discount rate of 5.4%. The liability 
will be amortized over the projected life of the mine to 2016. 

 
The present value of the Corporation’s reclamation liability for the Hartbeestlaagte and 
the Tirisano Diamond Mine which together with the Zwartrand property, constitute the 
Blue Gum Diamond Project at March 31, 2011 is $2.0 million, calculated using a 
discount rate of 9%. The liability will be amortized over the projected life of the mine to 
2015. 

March 31,
 2011

December 31,
 2010

June 30, 
2010

July 1, 
2009

Balance beginning of period 2,296$         4,231$         -$             -$     
Assumed on acquisition of 
   Etruscan (Note 3(a)) -              -               4,077            -        
Accretion 70                150              154              -        
Liability held for sale (Note 4) (52)              (2,085)           -               -        

Balance end of period 2,314$          2,296$          4,231$          -$      

 
(b) Bonuses 

 
The Corporation has a deferred bonus policy in order to continue to attract, retain and 
motivate employees to enhance the profitability and growth of the Corporation’s 
business. The bonus is accrued when the Corporation has created a constructive 
obligation to make the payment and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.  
The bonus amount is calculated as 10% of the increase in value of the Corporation’s 
liquid assets, but payable on realization.  In order to align the interests of the 
Corporation’s shareholders and employees, these bonuses are deferred and paid upon 
realization by the Corporation’s shareholders.   

 
In addition to the above noted deferred bonus policy, the Corporation also has an 
incentive bonus policy linked to the fees generated from the financial and treasury 
services business and the gain on investments. Fiore Financial Corporation is entitled to 
receive a minimum of 20% of the Corporation’s bonus pool. 
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11. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

(a) Voting shares 
 

Authorized  
 1,000,000,000 voting shares of $0.01 par value 
 1,000,000,000 undesignated shares 
 

In connection with the acquisition of EFC, on July 30, 2007, 4,161,124 shares of the 
Corporation were placed in escrow to be released in quarterly instalments based on EFC 
meeting a cumulative earnings before income taxes and depreciation and amortization 
(“EBITDA”) target of $3.0 million per quarter during the earn-out period which 
commenced on August 1, 2007 and was achieved on June 30, 2010.  An amount of $2.4 
million was recorded as contingent consideration for the release of escrow shares on July 
1, 2009. 
 

(b) Warrants 
 

A summary of the changes in warrants is presented below: 
 Weighted average

Warrants exercise price
outstanding  (C$)

At July 1, 2009 and June 30 2010 32,487,501  2.50$                 
   Issued as part of the Arrangement

(Note 3(b)) 3,111,559    1.01                  
   Exercised (69,900)       3.86                  
   Cancelled (627,003)     2.81                  

At December 31, 2010 and March 31, 2011 34,902,157  2.81$                 
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 

(b) Warrants (continued) 
 

The following table summarizes the outstanding and exercisable warrants as at March 31, 
2011:  

Outstanding & 
Exercisable

Weighted average 
exercise price 

(C$)

Weighted average 
remaining contractual 

life

500,383                5.27$                        0.16 years
357,624                3.86                         0.31 years
449,177                19.85                       0.35 years
135,347                5.27                         1.67 years
972,125                3.13                         2.73 years

32,487,501            2.50                         2.85 years

34,902,157            2.81$                         2.75 years

 
On September 10, 2010, the Corporation issued 3,111,559 share purchase warrants to 
effect the Arrangement of Etruscan (Note 3 (b)).  The holders of these warrants are 
entitled to purchase 0.0932 of an Endeavour share and C$0.26 for every share purchase 
warrant held. These warrants expire between November 2, 2010 and December 24, 2013. 
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 

(c) Share based payments 
 

A summary of the changes in share options is presented below: 
 Weighted average

Options exercise price
outstanding  (C$)

At July 1, 2009 2,530,000         9.56$                
   Granted 7,166,500         1.96                  
   Exercised (142,500)          1.94                  
   Forfeited (160,000)          9.47                  
At June 30, 2010 9,394,000         2.47                  
   Issued as part of the Arrangement

(Note 3(b)) 1,543,391         0.84                  
   Granted 835,000           2.95                  
   Exercised (146,370)          1.63                  
   Cancelled (17,500)            1.94                  
   Expired (35,975)            23.95                
At December 31, 2010 11,572,546       3.24                  
   Granted 350,000           2.87                  
   Exercised (396,844)          1.98                  
   Expired (30,756)            24.25                
At March 31, 2011 11,494,946       3.21$                

 
The following table summarizes information about the exercisable stock options 
outstanding as at March 31, 2011: 

$0 - $1.94 8,696,778 8,696,778 1.91$            3.21 years
$1.95 - $2.50 667,070 542,070 2.44              5.78 years
$2.51 - $2.94 355,452 355,452 2.87              4.78 years
$2.95 - $5.00 835,932 835,932 2.95              3.75 years
$5.01 - $44.96 939,714 939,714 16.14            1.94 years
 11,494,946 11,369,946     3.21$            3.31 years

Exercise Prices 
(C$) Outstanding Exercisable

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
(C$)

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual life
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 

(c) Share based payments (continued) 
 
The Corporation has established a share option plan whereby the Corporation’s directors 
may from time to time grant options to directors, employees or consultants. The 
maximum term of any option is ten years.  The exercise price of an option is not less than 
the volume weighted average trading price of the shares traded on the exchange for the 
five trading days immediately preceding the grant date. At March 31, 2011, there were 
11,387,935 (March 31, 2010 – 9,783,540) options available for grant under the plan, of 
which nil (March 31, 2010 – 609,540) remain in the pool of options that have not been 
granted. The 1,081,446 remaining options granted as part of the Etruscan purchase are 
deducted from the calculation of options available to be granted under the Corporation’s 
share purchase plan. 
 
During the quarter ended March 31, 2011, 350,000 share options were granted with a fair 
value per option of $1.11.  A share based payments expense of $0.4 million was recorded 
(March 31, 2010 $1.4 million). 
 
The following weighted average assumptions were used for the Black-Scholes valuation 
of share options: 

March 31, 
2011

March 31, 
2010

 

Risk-free interest rate 1.9% 1.8%
Expected life 3.0 years 3.0 years
Annualized volatility 58.2% 58.2%
Dividend rate 0.0% 0.0%
Forfeiture rate 10.9% 14.1%
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 

(d) Diluted earnings per share  
 

Diluted earnings per share were calculated based on the following:  
 

March 31, 
2011

March 31, 
2010

Basic weighted average number of 113,647,442      96,906,136        
shares outstanding   

Effect of dilutive securities   
 Share options 2,715,590          1,136,030          
 Share purchase warrants 2,681,778          -                     

Diluted weighted average number of
shares outstanding 119,044,810      98,042,166        

 
The following summarizes the stock options and share purchase warrants excluded from 
the computation of diluted earnings per share because the exercise prices exceeded the 
average market values of the common shares of C$2.72 (March 31, 2010 - C$2.06).  
 

March 31, 
2011

March 31, 
2010

Stock options 2,131,098       600,000       
Share purchase warrants 2,414,656       32,487,501   
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12. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 
 

The composition of the non-controlling interests in Namibia Rare Earths Inc. (“NREI”) and 
Etruscan Resources Inc. are as follows: 

Nambia Rare 
Earths Inc.

Etruscan 
Resources 

Inc. Total

As at July 1, 2009 -$                  -$             -$          
Acquisition of Etruscan (Note 3 (a)) -                    47,727          47,727       
Change of ownership -                    2,224           2,224         
Net loss -                    (2,029)          (2,029)        
As at June 30, 2010 -                    47,922          47,922       
Change of ownership 2,395                 (47,765)        (45,370)      
Net loss (30)                    (157)             (187)          
At December 31, 2010 2,365                 -              2,365         
Change of ownership 170                   -              170            
Net loss (60)                    -              (60)            
At March 31, 2011 2,475$               -$             2,475$       

 
In the third quarter of 2010, NREI completed a C$5.4 million private placement, which reduced 
the Corporation’s ownership from 100% to 73.5%. 
 
In January 2011, NREI issued shares on the exercise of warrants reducing the Corporation’s 
ownership from 73.5% to 71.6%.  
 
Subsequent to the quarter end, NREI completed a C$28.75 million public offering, which reduced 
the Corporation’s ownership from 71.6% to 38.5%. 
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13. LOSSES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
March 31,

 2011
March 31,

 2010
 
Loss on marketable securities (2,440)$    (4,169)$        
Interest income 216          501              
Interest expense and financing costs (1,010)      (1,994)          
Loss on derivative financial instruments (Note 9) (1,014)      (10,010)        
Gain of foreign currency 204          252              

(4,044)$    (15,420)$       

 
 
14. FINANCIAL AND TREASURY SERVICES 
 
 The financial and treasury services team is responsible for; 
 

(i) Assisting with the implementation of the acquisition strategy of the Corporation and 
where appropriate, providing specific advisory services to the Corporation. 

(ii) Providing debt, equity, mergers and acquisition and strategic business development 
advice to external clients. 

(iii) Managing the investments held by the Corporation. 
 

Until June 30, 2010 the Corporation operated as a merchant banking company. Until that date, the 
financial and treasury services team were paid bonuses based on fees earned from clients and fees 
earned based on assets under management held by the Corporation.  The asset management fees 
charged resulted in bonuses equivalent to approximately 1% of the average assets under 
management and 10% of the realized gain on sale of gold investments and 10% of the recorded 
gain on other investments. 
 
Following the Corporation’s transformation into a gold producer, the bonus structure was 
modified to eliminate the 1% management fee and to clarify the deferred bonus amounts 
attributable to the sale of gold assets.  As a result, during the three month period ended March 31, 
2011 the bonuses accrued were based on the income generated from clients, 10% of the recorded 
gain on marketable securities and 10% of the realized gain on the sale of gold assets. 
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14. FINANCIAL AND TREASURY SERVICES (continued) 
 

The following table includes the fees earned from external clients and does not include intra 
group earnings; however the operating and bonus expense includes the total amounts incurred in 
providing all services. 

March 31, 
2011

March 31, 
2010

Income earned from external clients 3,630$               504
Operating expenses (2,066)               (1,764)               
Amortization of intangible assets (417)                  (887)                  
Share-based payments (72)                   (1,377)               

 1,075                (3,524)               

Bonus (expense) recovery on income earned, gains on
    marketable securities and sale of gold assets (Note 10 (b)) (1,731)               (21,593)              

(656)$                (25,117)$            
 

 
 
15. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION  

 
March 31, March 31,

2011 2010

Changes in non-cash working capital:
(Increase) decrease in trade and 

other receivables (1,840)$          1,271$           
(Increase) decrease in inventories 439               (677)              
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other (67)                65                 
(Decrease) increase in trade and other 

payables (3,069)           39,787           
Increase (decrease)  in income taxes payable 50                 (30)               

(4,487)$          40,416$         

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of: 
 Cash at bank 48,462$         27,197$         

Short-term money-market instruments 120,000         -               
168,462$       27,197$         
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15. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) 
 
The significant non-cash financing and investing transactions for the three month period ended 
March 31, 2011 consisted of the following: 
 

Release of nil (March 31, 2010 – 339,251) common shares from escrow in connection with the 
acquisition of EFC, refer to (Note 11(a)). 

 
 
16. SEGMENTED INFORMATION 
 

The Corporation manages its operations by significant information relating to the Corporation’s 
gold mining and corporate segments. 

Gold Mining Corporate Total
Revenue
    Gold revenue 26,116$        -$               26,116$        
    
Cost of sales
   Operating expenses 13,836         -                13,836          
   Depreciation and depletion 3,802           -                3,802            

Earnings from mine operations 8,478             -                 8,478             
  

Corporate administration -               3,600            3,600            
Exploration 735              -                735               

Earnings (loss) from operations 7,743             (3,600)            4,143             

Other expenses
Loss on financial instruments (737)             (3,307)           (4,044)           
Financial and treasury services -               (656)              (656)              

 (737)             (3,963)           (4,700)           

Earnings (loss) before taxes 7,006             (7,563)            (557)               
Income and mining taxes -               9                   9                   
Deferred income and mining taxes 165              246               411               

Net earnings (loss) and total  
    comprehensive earnings (loss) 7,171$           (7,308)$          (137)$             

Three months ended March 31, 2011
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16. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (continued) 

Gold Mining Corporate Total
Revenue
    Gold revenue 17,654$        -$               17,654$        

Cost of sales   
    Operating expenses 11,001         -                11,001          
    Depreciation and depletion 3,284           -                3,284            

Earnings from mine operations 3,369             -                 3,369             
  

Corporate administration -               2,890            2,890            
Exploration 1,700           -                1,700            

Earnings (loss) from operations 1,669             (2,890)            (1,221)            

Other (expenses) income
Loss on financial instruments (1,807)          (13,613)         (15,420)         
Financial and treasury services -               (25,117)         (25,117)         
Share of profit of associate, net of taxes -               4,201            4,201            

 (1,807)          (34,529)         (36,336)         

Loss before taxes (138)               (37,419)          (37,557)          
Income and mining taxes -               (468)              (468)              
Deferred income and mining taxes 167              (294)              (127)              

Net loss and total comprehensive loss 29$                (38,181)$        (38,152)$        

Three months ended March 31, 2010
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16. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (continued) 
 

Total assets 

 
March 31, 

2011 
December 31,

 2010
June 30, 

2010
July 1, 

2009

Assets
  Gold mining     
    Burkina Faso 145,140$          146,907$        149,982$      -$           
    Cote d'Ivoire 11,387              11,387           10,836          -             
    Mali 3,527                3,439             3,691            -             

    Other
1 

150,764            151,648         137,878        -             
 310,818            313,381         302,387        -             
  Corporate

    Other
2

142,657            147,848         148,148        251,271       
453,475$          461,229$        450,535$      251,271$     

 
1 Included in this balance is $137.3 million (December 31, 2010 - $137.9 million, June 30, 2010 

- $135 million) in cash and cash equivalents available for deployment in the gold mining 
segment. 

 
2 Included in Corporate other is the goodwill associated with the acquisition of EFC, refer to 

Note 7. 
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Financial instrument risk exposure 
 
The Corporation’s activities expose it to a variety of risks that may include currency risk, credit 
risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and other price risks, including equity price risk. The 
Corporation examines the various financial instrument risks to which it is exposed and assesses 
any impact and likelihood of those risks.   
 
(i) Credit risk  

 
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument will cause a financial 
loss for the Corporation by failing to discharge its obligations. Credit risk arises from 
cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities held with investment dealers, marketable 
securities made in the form of a loan and trade and other receivables. Although it is 
intended that the marketable securities the Corporation makes in the form of loans will 
normally be secured, there can be no assurance that such security will completely protect 
the value of the Corporation’s investments.  As the assets securing the Corporation’s 
loans will occasionally be subject to senior indebtedness, the Corporation’s security may 
have second or third priority.    
 
The Corporation closely monitors its financial assets and does not have any significant 
concentration of credit risk. The Corporation invests its cash and cash equivalents in 
highly rated corporations and government issuances of which the credit risk is considered 
to be low. The Corporation sells its gold exclusively to large international financial 
institutions and other organizations with strong credit ratings. The Corporation’s gold 
revenue is comprised of gold sales to primarily three customers. 
 
The historical level of customer defaults is minimal and, as a result, the credit risk 
associated with trade and other receivables at March 31, 2011 is considered to be 
negligible.  The Corporation does not rely entirely on ratings issued by credit rating 
agencies in evaluating counterparties’ related credit risk.  
  
All transactions executed by the Corporation in listed securities are settled/paid for upon 
delivery using approved brokers.  The risk of default is considered minimal, as delivery 
of securities sold is only made once the broker has received payment.  Payment is made 
on a purchase once the securities have been received by the broker. The trade will fail if 
either party fails to meet its obligation. 
  
Trade and other receivables include amounts that are past due at the end of the reporting 
period but against which the Corporation has not recognized an allowance for doubtful 
receivables because there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the 
amounts are still considered recoverable.  The Corporation does not have any collateral or 
other credit enhancements over these balances nor does it have a legal right to offset any 
of the amounts owed by the Corporation to the counterparty.  
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

Financial instrument risk exposure (continued) 
 

(i) Credit risk (continued) 
 
In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Corporation considers any 
change in the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially 
granted up to the end of the reporting period. 

 
The Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk before taking into account any 
collateral held or other credit enhancements is the carrying amount of the financial 
instruments, except cash and cash equivalents, at the reporting date as follows:  
 

March 31, 
2011

December 31, 
2010

 June 30, 
2010

July 1, 
2009

Marketable securities in
   the form of loans 5,000$            5,000$           5,000$    12,532$    
Trade and other receivables 8,537              7,693             7,626      3,508        

13,537$           12,693$          12,626$   16,040$    

 
(ii) Liquidity risk   

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will encounter difficulty in meeting 
obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash, 
physical gold or another financial asset.  The Corporation has a planning and budgeting 
process in place to help determine the funds required to support the Corporation’s normal 
operating requirements. 

 
The following table summarized the contractual maturities of the Corporation’s financial 
liabilities and operating and capital commitments at March 31, 2011: 
 

Within 1 
year

2 to 3 
years

4 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years Total

 
Trade and other payables 13,499$    -$           -$      -$       13,499$      
Derivative financial liabilities 25,700      9,600         -        -         35,300        
Minimium rental and lease payments 996           1,141         -        -         2,137          
Environmental rehabilitation 
   provision -           -             -        5,608     5,608          

40,195$    10,741$     -$      5,608$   56,544$      
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

Financial instrument risk exposure (continued) 
 
(ii) Liquidity risk (continued)  

 
In the opinion of management, the working capital at March 31, 2011, together with 
future cash flows from operations, is sufficient to support the Corporation’s 
commitments. 

 
Market risk 
 
(i) Currency risk   

 
Currency risk relates to the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of the 
Corporation’s financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange 
rates. Exchange rate fluctuations may affect the costs that the Corporation incurs in its 
operations. Gold is sold in US dollars and the Corporation’s costs are incurred principally 
in US dollars, British pounds, Canadian Dollars, Burkina Faso CRA Franc.   
 
The appreciation of non-US dollar currencies against the US dollar can increase the cost 
of gold production and capital expenditures in US dollar terms.  The Corporation also 
holds cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, and trade and other receivables 
that are denominated in non-US dollar currencies which are subject to currency risk. 
  
The Corporation has not hedged its exposure to foreign currency exchange risk. 
 
The table below highlights the net assets held in foreign currencies: 
 

 March 31, 
2011

December 31, 
2010

 June 30, 
2010

July 1, 
2009

Canadian dollar 6,734$               43,672$          175,010$  168,994$  
Euro 3,856                 88                 2,326        -          
Rand (42)                    (69)                (10,438)     -          
Other currencies 791                   900                3,495        3,421       

11,339$             44,591$          170,393$  172,415$  

 
The effect on loss and other comprehensive loss before tax as at March 31, 2011 of a 
10% appreciation or depreciation in the foreign currencies against the US dollar on the 
above mentioned financial and non-financial assets and liabilities of the Corporation is 
estimated to be $1.1 million (December 31, 2010 – $4.5 million) assuming that all other 
variables remained constant. This calculation is based on the Corporation’s statement of 
financial position as at March 31, 2011. 
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

Market risk (continued) 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk  
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of the Corporation’s 
financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  The 
Corporation is exposed to interest rate risk on its long-term debt and cash and cash 
equivalents.  The Corporation holds marketable securities in the form of loans and short 
term government treasury securities that have the potential to be affected by changes in 
interest rates. There is minimal fair value sensitivity to changes in interest rates, since 
marketable securities and government treasury securities held as loans are short term in 
nature and are usually held to maturity. 

 
The Corporation monitors its exposure to interest rates and is comfortable with its 
exposure given the relatively low short-term US dollar rates. At March 31, 2011, a 10% 
increase or decrease in the interest rate would result in a nominal decrease or increase in 
the Corporations’ earnings. A 10% increase or decrease in the interest earned from 
financial institutions on cash and cash equivalents would result in a nominal increase or 
decrease in the Corporation’s earnings, respectively. 

 
(iii) Price risk   

 
Price risk is the risk that the fair value of or future cash flows of the Corporation’s 
financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Profitability of 
the Corporation depends on metal prices, primarily gold. Metal prices are affected by 
numerous factors such as the sale or purchase of gold by various central banks and 
financial institutions, interest rates, exchange rates, inflation or deflation, fluctuations in 
the value of the US dollar and foreign currencies, global and regional supply and demand, 
and the political and economic conditions of major producing countries through the 
world.    
 
The Corporation is also exposed to other price risk or equity price risk in trading its 
marketable securities and unfavorable market conditions could result in dispositions of 
marketable securities at less than favorable prices. Additionally, the Corporation fair 
values its investments at each reporting period. This process could result in significant 
write downs of the Corporation’s investments over one or more reporting periods, 
particularly during periods of declining resource equity markets. 
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18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

Commitments 
 
Contracts and Leases 
 
The Corporation has a commitment in place at Youga with a contractor to provide drilling and 
blasting, and load and hauling services.  The term expires on December 31, 2012 and requires the 
contractor to drill and blast a minimum of 3.2 million bank cubic meters (“BCM”) per annum at a 
base cost of $2.252 per BCM, adjusted on an annual basis over the contract term and load and 
haul approximately 3.2 BCM of ore and waster per annum.  The annual commitment is 
approximately $19.2 million.  The Corporation provided a guarantee to BNP Paribas guaranteeing 
the obligations of the contractor, which were used to purchase drill equipment for the purposes of 
the drilling and blasting at Youga. 
 
The Corporation is subject to operating lease commitments in connection with rented office 
premises. 
 
The table below summarizes the commitments for the service contracts and operating lease 
commitments; 

(US dollars in thousands)
Less than 

1 year
1 to 3 
years

4 to 5 
years

After 5 
years Total

 
Operating leases 1,106$      347.00$     -$      -$       1,453$        
Drill and blasting contract 5,400        7,200         -        -         12,600        
Load and hauling contract 9,000        12,000       -        -         21,000        

15,506$    19,547$     -$      -$       35,053$      

 
(a) The Corporation has a commitment in place at the Youga Gold Mine with a contractor to 

provide drilling and blasting, and load and hauling services.  The term expires on 
December 31, 2012 and requires the contractor to drill and blast a minimum of 3.2 
million bank cubic meters (“BCM”) per annum at a base cost of $2.252 per BCM, 
adjusted on an annual basis over the contract term and load and haul approximately 3.2 
BCM of ore and waste per annum. The annual commitment is approximately $19.2 
million. The Corporation provided a guarantee to BNP Paribas guaranteeing the 
obligations of the contractor, which were used to purchase drill equipment for the 
purposes of the drilling and blasting at the Youga Gold Mine. 
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18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued) 
 

Contingencies  
 

(a) On May 17, 2010 the Corporation received a notice of arbitration from Burkina Faso 
Mines Services S.A. (“BFMS) disputing its right to terminate the Youga drill blast 
contract between it and BFMS. BFMS is claiming certain specified damages totalling 
approximately $5.0 million together with unspecified damages for fundamental breach of 
contract and injunctive relief to prevent the Corporation from claiming under a 
performance guarantee provided to the Corporation by BFMS’ parent company, EPC 
Groupe.  On July 5, 2010, the Corporation delivered a response and counterclaim to 
BFMS. The Corporation is of the view that BFMS’ claim is without merit. No accrual for 
this contingency has been made in the financial statements.     

 
(b) On December 16, 2008 the Corporation was notified of a claim filed against it by Gold 

Reserve Inc. (“Gold Reserve”) in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice. Gold Reserve’s 
claim against the Corporation arises out of an Advisory Agreement pursuant to which the 
Corporation agreed to provide financial advisory services to Gold Reserve. Gold Reserve 
alleges that by virtue of having been retained as Gold Reserve's financial advisor, the 
Corporation obtained access to all of Gold Reserve’s proprietary and confidential 
information. Gold Reserve alleges that the Corporation wrongfully shared this 
information with a third party, which is a co-defendant in the action, and further alleges 
that the Corporation has committed breaches of various duties owed to Gold Reserve 
under the Advisory Agreement and at common law. Gold Reserve claims that it has 
suffered and will continue to suffer damages and irreparable harm for which the 
Corporation is liable. In Gold Reserve’s original claim of December 16, 2008, Gold 
Reserve sought $500 million in damages in addition to $50 million in punitive damages 
from the Corporation and the co-defendant. In connection with this action, an interim 
motion was granted on February 10, 2009 and the co-defendant filed a statement of 
defence and counterclaim on March 31, 2009. The Corporation filed a statement of 
defence and counterclaim on August 19, 2009.   

 
After being relatively dormant since April 2009, Gold Reserve has changed counsel and 
on June 16, 2010 amended its Statement of Claim to, (i) reduce the damages claimed 
against the Corporation from $500 million to $150 million (including damages that Gold 
Reserve alleges to have suffered as a result of being unable to complete an unnamed 
transaction) and $50 million in punitive damages, and (ii) add principals of Fiore 
Financial Corporation as individual defendants. The Corporation believes the claim is 
without merit and intends to vigorously defend the action.  No accrual for this 
contingency has been made in the financial statements.     
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19. TRANSITION TO IFRS 
 
The Corporation transitioned from Canadian GAAP to IFRS effective July 1, 2009 (the 
“transition date”) and has prepared its opening IFRS consolidated balance sheet as at that date. 
The Corporation’s consolidated financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2011 will 
be the first annual financial statements that the Corporation will prepare in accordance with IFRS.  
The Corporation has prepared its opening IFRS consolidated statement of financial position by 
applying existing IFRS with an effective date of December 31, 2011 or prior.   
 
Prior to the adoption of IFRS the Corporation prepared its financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian GAAP.  IFRS 1, “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards” 
(“IFRS 1”) which governs the first time adoption of IFRS requires, subject to certain exceptions 
and exemptions, that the same accounting policies are applied for all periods presented and that 
these policies are based on IFRS effective at the end of the first IFRS reporting year, 
December 31, 2011. Accordingly, it is possible that the opening IFRS consolidated statement of 
financial position and the June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2010 comparative statements of 
financial position and statement of comprehensive loss presented in the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ending December 31, 2011 may differ from those presented at this time.  
 
The IFRS accounting policies as presented in Note 2 have been applied in preparing the financial 
statements for the period ended March 31, 2011, the comparative information and the opening 
statement of financial position at the date of transition.   

 
(a) Exemptions from full retrospective application 

 
In preparing these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 1, the 
Corporation has applied certain of the optional exemptions from full retrospective 
application of IFRS.  The optional exemptions applied are described below. 
 
(i) Business combinations 

 
IFRS 1 allows a first-time adopter to elect not to restate in accordance with 
IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”, all business combinations that occurred prior 
to the transition date or to only restate all business combinations that occurred 
after a designated date prior to the transition date. The Corporation has applied 
this exemption to all business combinations that occurred prior to July 1, 2009.  
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19. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 
(b) Exemptions from full retrospective application (continued) 
 

(ii) Cumulative translation differences 
 
IFRS 1 allows a first-time adopter to not comply with the requirements of IAS 21 
“The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates” for cumulative translation 
differences that existed at the transition date.  The Corporation has elected this 
exemption to set the previous accumulated cumulative translation account, which 
is included in other comprehensive income, to zero at July 1, 2009.  If, 
subsequent to adoption, a foreign operation is disposed of, the translation 
differences that arose before the transition date to IFRS will not affect the gain or 
loss on disposal.  This exemption has been applied to all subsidiaries. 

 
(iii) Share-based-payments 

 
IFRS 1 encourages, but does not require, first-time adopters to apply IFRS 2 
“Share Based Payment” to equity instruments that were granted on or before 
November 7, 2002, or equity instruments that were granted subsequent to 
November 7, 2002 and vested before the later of the date of transition to IFRS 
and January 1, 2005.  The Corporation has elected not to apply IFRS 2 to equity 
instruments that fully vested prior to July 1, 2009.  

 
(iv) Borrowing costs 

 
IFRS 1 permits an entity to apply the transitional provisions set out in IAS 23 
“Borrowing Costs” (“IAS 23”) as an alternative to full retrospective application. 
Under the transitional provisions, the Corporation may elect to only apply IAS 23 
to qualifying assets for which the commencement date for capitalization is on or 
after the date of transition (or an elected earlier date).   The Corporation has 
elected to apply this exemption from its transition date of July 1, 2009, and as a 
result, will apply IAS 23 from this date onward for projects with a 
commencement date of July 1, 2009 or later. 
 

(v) Arrangements containing a lease 
 
The Corporation has elected to apply the elective exemption available under 
IFRIC 4, “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease” (“IFRIC 4”).  
The Corporation made an assessment of leases for Canadian GAAP purposes 
under EIC 150 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”, as at 
the date of applicability, December 9, 2004.  Accordingly, the Corporation has 
not reassessed the arrangement containing leases as at the transition date. 
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19. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 

(a) Exemptions from full retrospective application (continued) 
 

IFRS 1 also outlines specific guidelines that a first-time adopter must adhere to under 
certain circumstances.  The Company has applied the following mandatory exceptions to 
its opening statement of financial position dated July 1, 2009: 

 
(vi) Estimates 

 
In accordance with IFRS 1, an entity’s estimates under IFRS at the date of 
transition to IFRS must be consistent with estimates made for the same date 
under previous GAAP, unless there is objective evidence that those estimates 
were in error.  The Company’s IFRS estimates as of July 1, 2009 are consistent 
with its GAAP estimates for the same date. 
 

(vii) Non-controlling interest 
 
Certain requirements of IAS 27 – Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements must be applied prospectively from July 1, 2009, the Company’s 
transition date. Retrospective application is not permitted. These requirements 
relate to: 
 
 The attribution of total comprehensive income to non-controlling interests 

even if this results in non-controlling interests having a deficit balance; 
 

 The accounting for changes in the parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary 
that do not result in a loss of control as equity transactions; and 
 

 The accounting for loss of control over a subsidiary and the related 
requirements of IFRS 5 – Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations. 

 
(b) Reconciliation from Canadian GAAP to IFRS 

 
The Corporation’s transition from Canadian GAAP to IFRS has resulted in a number of 
adjustments to the consolidated statement of financial position as at  July 1, 2009 and its 
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss, consolidated statement of financial 
position and consolidated statement of cash flows for the quarter ended March 31, 2010, 
the six month period ended December 31, 2010, and the year ended June 30, 2010, 
respectively. Further details of the adjustments are provided in the following 
reconciliations and the notes that accompany the reconciliations.  
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19. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 
Reconciliation of assets, liabilities and equities as at July 1, 2009  
 

Canadian 
GAAP Note

 Other 
adjustments  IFRS 

ASSETS

Current

  Cash and cash equivalents 121,814$   -$            121,814$   

  Investments 71,049       -              71,049       

  Trade and other receivables 3,953         (f) (445)            3,508         

  Prepaid expenses and other -            (f) 445              445            

196,816     -              196,816     

Capital assets 298            (f) (298)            -            

Mining interests -            (f) 298              298            

Intangible assets 24,749       -              24,749       

Goodwill 29,314       -              29,314       

Deferred income and mining taxes 94              -              94              

251,271$   -$            251,271$   

LIABILITIES

Current

  Trade and other payables 3,565$       -$            3,565$       

  Income and mining taxes payable 167            -              167            

3,732         -              3,732         

Derivative financial liability -            (d) 12,858         12,858       

3,732         12,858         16,590       

EQ UITY

Share capital 196,171       -              196,171     

Equity reserve 9,875         (e) 2,444           12,319       

Retained earnings 41,493       (d) (12,858)       26,191       

(e) (2,444)         

Equity attributable  to shareholders of the Corporation 247,539     (12,858)       234,681     

Non-controlling interests -            -              -            

Total equity 247,539     (12,858)       234,681     

251,271$   -$            251,271$   

 Effect of tranisiton to IFRS 
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19. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 
Reconciliation of assets, liabilities and equities as at June 30, 2010 
 

 Canadian 
GAAP 

 Etruscan 
(Note 19 (c) (ii)) Note

 Other 
Adjustment  IFRS 

ASSETS

Current

  Cash and cash equivalents 5,391$        9,672$               -$          15,063$      

  Investments 330,080      (83,320)             (c) (ii) (69,977)     32,961        

(c) (ii) (143,822)   

  Trade and other receivables 1,038          6,588                 -            7,626          

  Inventories -             20,521               -            20,521        

  Prepaid expenses and other 457             2,711                 -            3,168          

336,966      (43,828)             (213,799)   79,339        

Capital assets 139             -                    (f) (139)          -              

Reclamation deposits -             1,424                 -            1,424          

Mining interests -             175,395             (f) 139            175,534      

Intangible assets 21,102        -                    -            21,102        

Goodwill 31,620        -                    (e) (2,306)       29,314        

Investment in associate -             -                    (c) (ii) 143,822     143,822      

389,827$    132,991$           (72,283)$   450,535$    

LIABILITIES

Current

  Trade and other payables 14,172$      16,704$             -$          30,876$      

  Current portion of long-term debt -             10,300               -            10,300        

  Current portion of derivative financial liability -             20,900               -            20,900        

  Income and mining taxes payable 765             -                    -            765             

14,937        47,904               -            62,841        

Long-term debt -             24,052               -            24,052        

Derivative financial liabilit ies -             23,768               (d) 24,123       47,891        

Deferred income and mining taxes 342             8,037                 -            8,379          

Provisions -             4,231                 -            4,231          

15,279        107,992             24,123       147,394      

EQ UITY

Share capital 198,886      -                    (e) (360)          198,526      

Equity reserve 15,542        -                    (e) 498            16,040        

Retained earnings 160,120      (22,923)             (d) (24,123)     40,653        

(e) (2,444)       

(c) (ii) (69,977)     
Equity attributable  to shareholders of
   the Corporation 374,548      (22,923)             (96,406)     255,219      

Non-controlling interests -             47,922                 -            47,922        

Total equity 374,548      24,999               (96,406)     303,141      

389,827$    132,991$           (72,283)$   450,535$    

Effect of transition to IFRS
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19. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 
Reconciliation of statement of comprehensive income for the twelve months ended June 30, 
2010 

  

 Canadian GAAP 
 (Note 19 (f)) 

 Etruscan 
(Note 19 (c) (i)) Note

 Other 
Adjustment  Reclass (f)  IFRS 

Revenues

Gold revenue -$                   53,137$            -$               -$               53,137$          

Cost of sales

Operating expenses -                     27,661              -                 -                 27,661            

Depreciation and depletion -                     9,593                -                 -                 9,593              

Earnings from mine operations -                     15,883              -                 -                 15,883            

 Corporate administration 5,266                 4,854                -                 -                 10,120            

Exploration -                     3,512                -                 -                 3,512              

Earnings from operations (5,266)                7,517                -                 -                 2,251              

Other income (expenses)

Gain on financial instruments -                     -                   -                     22,665            22,665            

Financial and treasury services -                     -                   -                     (23,128)          (23,128)           

Gain on marketable securities 147,159             (20,457)            (c) (ii) (78,272)          (48,430)          -                  

Financial and treasury services (12,434)              -                   (c) (ii) 1,303              11,131            -                  

Interest income -                     -                   -                     -                     -                  

Interest (expense) and (finance costs) (37)                     (4,807)              -                     4,844              -                  

Share of profit  of associates -                     -                   (c) (ii) 9,295              -                     9,295              

Share based payements (5,805)                (2,501)              -                 8,306              -                  

Amortization (3,647)                (44)                   -                 3,691              -                  

Loss on derivative financial liabilit ies -                     -                   (d) (20,695)          20,695            -                  

Loss on foreign currency (12)                     (214)                 -                     226                 -                  

125,224             (28,023)             (88,369)          -                     8,832              

Earnings before taxes 119,958             (20,506)             (88,369)          -                 11,083            

 Income and mining taxes (895)                   188                   -                 -                 (707)                

 Deferred income and mining taxes (436)                   (118)                  -                 -                 (554)                

Net earnings and total comprehensive income 118,627$           (20,436)$           (88,369)$        -$               9,822$            

Attributable  to:

Shareholders of Endeavour  

       Mining Corporation 118,627$           (15,956)$           (88,369)$        -$               14,302$          

Non-controlling interests -                     (4,480)               -                 -                 (4,480)             

Net earnings and total comprehensive income 118,627$           (20,436)$           (88,369)$        -$               9,822$            

Effect of transition to IFRS 
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19. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 
Reconciliation of assets, liabilities and equities as at December 31, 2010 
 

 Canadian 
GAAP 

 Etruscan 
(Note 19 (c) (i)) Note

 Other 
adjustment  IFRS 

ASSETS

Current

  Cash and cash equivalents 167,300$   -$                  -$          167,300$   

  Investments 37,149       -                    -            37,149       

  Accounts receivable and other assets 8,161         -                    (f) (468)          7,693         

  Inventories 22,022       (2,661)                 -            19,361       

  Prepaid expenses and other 3,796         -                    (f) 468            4,264         

  Assets held for sale 260            11,928              -            12,188       

238,688     9,267                -            247,955     

Mining interests 221,024     (56,370)             -            164,654     

Intangible assets 19,306       -                    -            19,306       

Goodwill 32,320       -                    (e) (3,006)       29,314       

Long-term assets held for sale 18,611       (18,611)             -            -            

529,949$   (65,714)$           (3,006)$     461,229$   

LIABILITIES

Current

  T rade and other payables 16,536$     -$                  -$          16,536$     

  Current portion of long-term debt -            -                    -            -            

  Current derivative financial liability 25,500       -                      -            25,500       

  Income and mining taxes payable 708            -                    -            708            

  Liabilit ies held for sale 7,835         6,170                -            14,005       

50,579       6,170                -            56,749       

Derivative financial liability 15,100       -                    (d) 31,186       46,286       

Deferred income and mining taxes 17,536       (5,258)                 -            12,278       

Provisions 2,296         -                    -            2,296         

Long-term liabilit ies held for sale 6,170         (6,170)               -            -            

91,681       (5,258)               31,186       117,609     

EQ UITY

Share capital 240,576     -                    (e) (561)          240,015     

Equity reserve 22,877       -                    (e) 2                22,879       

Retained earnings 169,762     (57,771)             (d) (31,186)     78,361       

(e) (2,444)       

Equity attributable  to shareholders of the Corporation 433,215     (57,771)             (34,189)     341,255     

Non-controlling interests 5,053         (2,688)               -            2,365         

Total equity 438,268     (60,459)             (34,189)     343,620     

529,949$   (65,714)$           (3,006)$     461,229$   

Effect of transition to IFRS
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19. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 
Reconciliation of statement of comprehensive income for the six months ended 
December 31, 2010  
 

  

 Canadian 
GAAP 

 Etruscan 
(Note 19 (c) (i)) Note

 Other 
Adjustment  Reclass (f)  IFRS 

Revenues

Gold revenue 37,954$            21,695$            -$               -$               59,649$          

Cost of sales

Operating expenses 23,541              4,030                -                 -                 27,571            

Depreciation and depletion 11,064              (2,977)              -                 -                 8,087              

Earnings from mine operations 3,349                20,642              -                 -                 23,991            

 Corporate administration 4,709                1,057                -                 -                 5,766              

Exploration 1,092                1,167                -                 -                 2,259              

Loss on disposal of mining interests 356                   (46)                   -                 -                 310                 

Earnings from operations (2,808)               18,464              -                 -                 15,656            

Other income (expenses)

Gain on financial instruments -                        -                      -                     67,975           67,975            

Financial and treasury services -                        -                      -                     (3,578)            (3,578)             

Gain on marketable securities 30,726              (13,028)           (c) (ii) 69,002           (86,700)          -                      

Financial and treasury services 747                   45                    -                 (792)               -                      

Interest (expense) and (finance costs) (2,029)               (3,640)              -                 5,669             -                      

Share of profit  associates -                    -                  (c) (ii) (25)                 -                 (25)                  

Share based payments (2,584)               (91)                    -                 2,675             -                      

Amortization (1,796)               -                    -                 1,796             -                      

Loss on derivative liabilit ies (10,431)             (8,611)             (d) 6,230             12,812           -                      

  Loss on foreign currency 189                   (332)                  -                 143                -                      

14,822              (25,657)            75,207           -                 64,372            

Earnings before taxes  12,014              (7,193)               75,207           -                 80,028            

 Income and mining taxes (2,051)               -                   -                 -                 (2,051)             

 Deferred income and mining taxes (351)                  (3,549)              -                 -                 (3,900)             

Net earnings and total comprehensive  income 9,612$              (10,742)$          75,207$         -$               74,077$          

Attributable  to:

Shareholders of Endeavour 

   Mining Corporation 9,612$              (10,555)$          75,207$         -$               74,264$          

Non-controlling interests -                    (187)                 -                 -                 (187)                

Net earnings and total comprehensive  income 9,612$              (10,742)            75,207           -                 74,077$          

 Effect of transition to IFRS 
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19. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 
Reconciliation of assets, liabilities and equities as at March 31, 2010  
 

Canadian  Etruscan  Other

GAAP (Note 19 (c) Note Adjustment IFRS

ASSETS

Current

   Cash and cash equivalents 13,995$        13,202$        -$              27,197$        

   Marketable securities 512,678        (81,933)         (c) (ii) (371,665)       59,080          

  Trade and other receivables 890               5,051            -                5,941            

  Inventories -                16,109          -                16,109          

  Prepaid expenses and other 498               3,097            -                3,595            

528,061        (44,474)         (371,665)       111,922        

Capital assets 189               -                (f) (189)              -                

Reclamation deposits -                1,442            -                1,442            

Mining interests -                176,898        (f) 189               177,087        

Intangible assets 21,989          -                -                21,989          

Goodwill 30,816          -                (e) (1,502)           29,314          

Investment in associate -                -                (c) (ii) 137,062        137,062        

581,055$      133,866$      (236,105)$     478,816$      

LIABILITIES

Current

  Trade and other payables 47,612$        14,187$        -$              61,799$        

  Current portion of long-term debt -                5,400            -                5,400            

  Current portion of derivative financial liability -                14,800          -                14,800          

  Income and mining taxes payable 604               -                -                604               

48,216          34,387          -                82,603          

Long-term debt -                29,896          -                29,896          

Derivative financial liabilit ies -                25,687          (d) 31,674          57,361          

Deferred income and mining taxes 834               8,224            -                9,058            

Provisions -                4,169            -                4,169            

49,050          102,363        31,674          183,087        

EQ UITY

Share capital 197,888        -                (e) 17                 197,905        

Equity reserve 15,056          -                (e) 925               15,981          

Retained earnings 319,061        (18,952)         (d) (31,674)         31,388          

(e) (2,444)           

(c) (ii) (234,603)       

Equity attributable  to shareholders of the  Corporation 532,005        (18,952)         (267,779)       245,274        

Non-controlling interests -                50,455            -                50,455          

Total equity 532,005        31,503          (267,779)       295,729        

581,055$      133,866$      (236,105)$     478,816$      

Effect of transition to IFRS
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19. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 

Reconciliation of statement of comprehensive income for the three months ended 
March 31, 2010 
 

  

 Canadian  
GAAP 

 Etruscan 
(Note 19 (c) (i)) Note

 Other 
Adjustment  Reclass (f)  IFRS 

Revenues

Gold revenue -$              17,654$            -$              -$              17,654$         

Cost of sales

Operating expenses -                11,001              -                -                11,001           

Depreciat ion and depletion -                3,284                -                -                3,284             

Earnings from mine operations -                3,369                -                -                3,369             

 Corporate administrat ion 1,182            1,708                -                -                2,890             

Exploration -                1,700                -                -                1,700             

Write-down of mining interests -                -                   -                -                -                

Loss from operations (1,182)           (39)                   -                -                (1,221)           

Other income (expenses)

Losses on financial instruments -                    -                      -                    (15,420)         (15,420)         

Financial and treasury services -                    -                      -                    (25,117)         (25,117)         

Gain on marketable securit ies 239,945        (5,311)             (c) (i) (238,803)       4,169            -                

Financial and treasury services (22,853)         -                  -                22,853          -                

Interest (expense) and (finance costs) 501               (1,994)              -                1,493            -                

Share of profit  of associates -                -                  (c) (i) 4,201             -                4,201             

Share based payments (1,237)           (140)                -                1,377            -                

Amortization (887)              -                  -                887               -                

Loss on derivative liabilities -                -                  (a) (10,010)         10,010          -                

  Loss on foreign currency (55)                307                    -                (252)              -                

215,414        (7,138)              (244,612)       -                (36,336)         

Loss before taxes   214,232        (7,177)               (244,612)       -                (37,557)         

 Income and mining taxes (468)              -                   -                -                (468)              

 Deferred income and mining taxes (293)              166                   -                -                (127)              

Net loss and total comprehensive loss 213,471$      (7,011)$            (244,612)$     -$              (38,152)$       

Attributable  to:

Shareholders of Endeavour 

    Mining Corporation 213,471$      (5,312)$            (244,612)$     -$              (36,453)$       

Non-controlling interests -                (1,699)              -                -                (1,699)           

Net loss and total comprehensive incom 213,471$      (7,011)$            (244,612)$     -                (38,152)$       

 Effect of transition to IFRS 
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19. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 
(c) Accounting Guideline 18 (“AuG-18”) 

 
Under Canadian GAAP, the Corporation’s accounting policy was to record its 
investments in accordance with AuG-18.  IFRS does not provide specific guidance for 
investment companies.  Therefore, investments which had previously been accounted for 
under AuG-18 were assessed as to whether fair value accounting was an appropriate 
measure.  If fair value accounting was no longer appropriate the Corporation’s 
investment was assessed for which standard was applicable and accounted for the 
investment under the identified standard with resulting changes shown in these notes.  
The key impact on transition to IFRS relate to the Corporation’s investment in Etruscan, 
the Corporation’s investment in Crew and the performance bonus accrual related to these 
two investments. 
 
(i) Subsidiaries – IFRS 3 Business Combinations 
 

On October 23, 2009 the Corporation acquired 55% of Etruscan’s common 
shares through open market purchases and a private placement. Under Canadian 
GAAP, the Corporation carried its investment in Etruscan at fair value with the 
change in unrealized gain and losses recorded in the income statement. 
 
On September 10, 2010, the Corporation acquired the remaining 45% of Etruscan 
common shares it did not already own. Under Canadian GAAP, the Corporation 
owning 100% of the common shares treated the September 10, 2010 
Arrangement as a business combination and the mining operations were 
consolidated from this date onward.  
 
IFRS does not provide specific guidance for investment companies which was 
the nature of the business at transition, therefore the Corporation determined its 
accounting policy to account for the acquisition of the 55% ownership of 
Etruscan as a business combination from October 23, 2009 onwards, the date that 
control commenced, using the acquisition method. For the acquisition of the 
remaining 45% of the Etruscan common shares, which was not considered a 
change in ownership and did not result in a change in control, it was accounted 
for as an equity transaction eliminating the non-controlling interest balances, 
accounting for the additional consideration with the difference being charged to 
retained earnings. 
 
There was no impact to the opening retained earnings at July 1, 2009. 
 
March 31, 2010 
The impact was a increase of $133.9 million in total assets, an increase of 
$102.4 million in total liabilities, a decrease in net earnings of $7.0 million and a 
$19.0 million decrease to retained earnings. 
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19. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 

(c) Accounting Guideline 18 (“AuG-18”) (continued) 
 

(i) Subsidiaries – IFRS 3 Business Combinations (continued) 
 

June 30, 2010 
The impact was a increase of $133.0 million in total assets, an increase of 
$108.0 million in total liabilities, a decrease in net earnings of $20.4 million and 
a $22.9 million decrease to retained earnings. 
 
December 31, 2010 
The impact was a decrease of $65.7 million in total assets, a decrease of 
$5.3 million in total liabilities, a decrease in net earnings of $10.7 million and a 
$57.8 million decrease to retained earnings. 

 
(ii) Investment in associate – IAS 28 

 
From January 2010 to March 31, 2010, the Corporation invested $134.5 million 
resulting in the Corporation holding a 43% interest in Crew Gold Corporation 
(“Crew”). 

 
On September 14, 2010, the Corporation sold its 43% interest of Crew for $214.5 
million in cash resulting in a gain of $78.3 million.   
 
Under Canadian GAAP, the Corporation carried its investment in Crew at fair 
value with the change in unrealized gain and losses recorded in the income 
statement in accordance with AuG-18. 

 
IFRS does not provide specific guidance for investment companies (the nature of 
the business at transition) and therefore the Corporation determined its 
accounting policy to be such that investments in associates where, the 
Corporation exercises significant influence (presumed to exist where the 
Corporation has between 20 percent and 50 percent of the voting rights), would 
be recorded using the equity method of accounting. In accordance with IAS 28, 
the Corporation has recorded the investment in Crew at cost and recorded 
earnings based on its proportionate share of Crew’s net earnings for each 
reporting period. There was no impact to the opening retained earnings at July 1, 
2009, however for the three month period ended March 31, 2010 $4.2 million of 
income was recorded for the equity earnings from investment in associate and an 
unrealized gain of $238.8 million was reversed.  For the twelve month period 
ended June 30, 2010 $9.3 million was recorded for the equity earnings from 
investment in associate and an unrealized gain of $78.3 million was reversed.  
For the six month period ended December 31, 2010 $0.03 million of loss was 
recorded for the loss from investment in associate and a $78.3 million gain on the 
sale of Crew was recorded.  
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19. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 

(d) Share purchase warrants 
 
In accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments, share purchase warrants with an 
exercise price denominated in a currency other that the Corporation’s functional 
currency, US dollars, are required to be classified and accounted for as derivative 
financial liabilities at their fair values, with changes in fair values being included in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as a component of net earnings for the 
period.  Under Canadian GAAP, all the Corporation’s outstanding share purchase 
warrants were classified and accounted for as equity. The impact of this was a decrease of 
$12.9 million in opening retained earnings at July 1, 2009. 

 
(e) Contingent consideration 

 
In accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, contingent consideration is required 
to be recorded at fair value at the time of the transaction.  Under Canadian GAAP, each 
period that the earnings requirement as described in Note 11(a) was achieved, the value 
of the shares in escrow increased goodwill and share capital for the corresponding fair 
value. The impact of this was a decrease of $2.4 million in opening retained earnings at 
July 1, 2009. 

 
(f) Reclassification  

  
Certain balances have been reclassified to meet with current IFRS presentation. 

 
(g) Statement of cash flows 
 

As a result of the consolidation of Etruscan from October 23, 2009 (Note 19 (c)(i)), the 
cash flows have also been consolidated from the acquisition date. 
 
The legacy Endeavour cash flows have not changed.  The impact of consolidating 
Etruscan from October 23, 2009 was as follows on the prior period cash flow statements: 
 

Three months ended March 31, 2010
Canadian

GAAP Etruscan 
(Note 19 (h)) (Note 19 (c)(i)) Total

Operating activities 20,461$          (1,437)$           19,024$          
Investing activities (91,320)          1,779             (89,541)           
Financing activities 215                4,100             4,315              

(70,644)          4,442             (66,202)           
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19. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 

(g) Statement of cash flows (continued) 
 

Twelve months ended June 30, 2010
Canadian

GAAP Etruscan 
(Note 19 (h)) (Note 19 (c)(i)) Total

Operating activities (4,721)$           (29,675)$         (34,396)$         
Investing activities (111,973)        44,890           (67,083)           
Financing activities 271                (5,206)            (4,935)             

(116,423)        10,009           (106,414)         

 
Six months ended December 31, 2010

Canadian Etruscan 
GAAP (Note 19 (c)(i)) Total

Operating activities (6,327)$           5,390$            (937)$              
Investing activities 195,535         (14,897)          180,638          
Financing activities (28,354)          (166)                (28,520)           

160,854         (9,673)            151,181          

 
(h) Comparative figures 

  
The transformation of the Corporation from a merchant banking company to an operating 
gold company resulted in the financial statement presentation of the consolidated 
statement of income and comprehensive income under Canadian GAAP to change 
significantly to reflect that of an operating gold company.  As a result, the year ended 
June 30, 2010 and the three month period ended March 31, 2010 comparatives under 
Canadian GAAP, which presented revenue in accordance with that of a merchant banking 
and investment company by presenting as components of income both investment income 
and advisory fees, has been reclassified and included in the Other income (expense) 
section of the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income. Within the 
Other income (expense) section, what was previously reported as investment income has 
now been recorded as Gain (loss) on marketable securities; and the previously reported 
advisory fee income has been netted against the overhead costs attributable to that 
income, including performance related bonuses, and recorded as Financial and treasury 
services. Therefore, Financial and treasury services and Gain (loss) on marketable 
securities should be considered together, as illustrated in the following tables: 
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19. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 

(h) Comparative figures (continued) 
 

Currently Presented Previously Stated 

Investment revenue -$                        239,154$           
Advisory revenue -                          1,807                
Total revenue -                          240,961             
Other income (expenses)

Gain on marketable securities 239,945                    -                   
Financial and treasury services (22,853)                    -                   
Other expenses (2,860)                      (26,729)             

Earnings before taxes 214,232$                 214,232$          

Canadian GAAP
Three months ended March 31, 2010 

 

Currently Presented Previously Stated 

Investment revenue -$                        147,935$           
Advisory revenue -                          10,306              
Total revenue -                          158,241             
Other income (expenses)

Gain on marketable securities 147,159                    -                   
Financial and treasury services (12,434)                    -                   
Other expenses (14,767)                    (38,283)             

Earnings before taxes 119,958$                 119,958$          

Canadian GAAP
Year Ended June 30, 2010 

 
In addition, cash flows relating to the purchase and sale of marketable securities was 
previously classified as cash flows from operations.  These cash flows have been 
reclassified to cash flows from investing activities. 
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19. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 

(h) Comparative figures (continued) 
 

Currently Presented Previously Stated 

Operating activities 20,461$                    (70,836)$           
Investing activities (91,320)                    -                   
Financing activities 215                          192                   

(70,644)$                 (70,644)$          

Canadian GAAP
Three months ended March 31, 2010 

 

Currently Presented Previously Stated 

Operating activities (4,721)$                    (116,671)$          
Investing activities (111,973)                  (23)                   
Financing activities 271                          271                   

(116,423)$                (116,423)$         

Canadian GAAP
Twelve months ended June 30, 2010 

 
 


